Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for
direct line
date

This meeting
will be filmed.*
Leslie Manning/Sophie Sherwood
0300 300 5132/0300 300 5649
11 April 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Date & Time

Wednesday, 24 April 2019 10.00 a.m.
Venue at

Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:

The Chairman and Members of the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE:
Cllrs K C Matthews (Chairman), R D Berry (Vice-Chairman), M C Blair,
Mrs S Clark, K M Collins, I Dalgarno, F Firth, E Ghent, C C Gomm, K Janes,
T Nicols, T Swain and J N Young
[Named Substitutes:
Cllrs D Bowater, Mrs C F Chapman MBE, S Dixon, Ms C Maudlin, A Ryan,
P Smith and B J Spurr]
All other Members of the Council - on request
MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

N.B. The running order of this agenda can change at the Chairman’s
discretion. Items may not, therefore, be considered in the order listed.

*This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast
online and can be viewed at
https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home.
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting will
be filmed by the Council. The footage will then be published to the Council’s
website. A copy of it will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy. The images and sound recording may be used for training
purposes within the Council.
By entering the Chamber you are deemed to have consented to being filmed by the
Council, including during any representation you might make, and to the possible
use of the images and sound recordings made by the Council for webcasting
and/or training purposes.
Phones and other equipment may also be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog
from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public. No
part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves
to go into exempt session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not
under the Council’s control.

AGENDA

Welcome
1.

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitute Members.

2.

Chairman's Announcements and Communications
To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of
communication.

3.

Minutes
To note that the minutes of the meetings of the Development Management
Committee held on 6 March 2019 and 3 April 2019 will not be available to be
confirmed and signed.

4.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations of interest including membership of
any Parish/Town Council consulted upon during the planning application
process and the way in which any Member has cast their vote.
Planning and Related Applications
Prior to considering the planning
applications contained in the following
schedules, Members will have received and
noted any additional information relating to
the applications as detailed in the Late
Sheet for this meeting.

Item
5.

Subject
Planning Application No. CB/18/04553/FULL (Heath & Reach)
Address:

North Star Cottage, Watling Street, Hockliffe, Leighton Buzzard,
LU7 9PY

Demolition of existing buildings/structures and retention of the pallet
operation and ancillary buildings on site (retrospective) and expansion of the
operation's facilities.
Applicant:

Direct Pallets Ltd.

6.

Planning Application No. CB/17/05679/OUT (Caddington)
Address:

Land adjoining Dunstable Road and to the rear of My Folly and
the Scout Hut, Dunstable Road, Caddington, LU1 4AL

Outline Application: Residential development and associated infrastructure.
Applicant:
7.

Bedfordshire Land Promotions

Planning Application No. CB/19/0041/REG3 (Flitwick)
Address:

Former Flitwick Leisure Centre, Steppingley Road, Flitwick,
MK45 1TH

Application for Outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
construction of 37 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 95 extra care
housing apartments (Use Class C3) and registered residential care home
consisting of 70 bedrooms (Use Class C2), with associated communal
facilities and ancillary uses including hair salon; shop; cafe; health; and
fitness uses.
Applicant:
8.

Central Bedfordshire Council

Planning Application CB/1900045/FULL (Northill)
Address:

140 Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote, Biggleswade,
SG18 9BJ

Application for the erection of 8 bungalows with access, parking, landscaping
and all ancillary works.
Applicant:
9.

Maple Ridge Homes Ltd

Late Sheet
To receive and note, prior to considering the planning applications contained
in the schedules above, any additional information detailed in the Late Sheet
to be circulated on 23 April 2019.

10.

Site Inspection Appointment(s)
Under the provisions of the Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice,
Members are requested to note that, following the cancellation of the May
meeting, the next Development Management Committee will be held on 17
June 2019 and the Site Inspections will be undertaken on 14 June 2019.

Item 5
Page 1

105.8m

A
5

104.2m

Depot

in

a
Dr
by

y-

La
North
Star
Cottage

2m

1.2

RH

CR
2M

1.2

2m

102.4m

RH

RH

1.2

Iss

1.
22
m

ue
s

in

Dra

RH

101.6m

1.2

2m

N

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

CASE NO.
Application No.
CB/18/04553/FULL
d

ar

W

y

Bd

E Date: 08:April:2019

W

RH

Map Sheet No
S
f

De

Scale: 1:2500

North Star Cottage, Watling Street, Hockliffe, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 9PY
g

lin

at

W
et

re

St

2m
1.2
RH

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 5
Page 3
APPLICATION NUMBER
LOCATION
PROPOSAL

PARISH
WARD
WARD COUNCILLORS
CASE OFFICER
DATE REGISTERED
EXPIRY DATE
APPLICANT
AGENT
REASON FOR
COMMITTEE TO
DETERMINE
RECOMMENDED
DECISION

CB/18/04553/FULL
North Star Cottage, Watling Street, Hockliffe,
Leighton Buzzard, LU7 9PY
Demolition of existing buildings/structures and
retention of the pallet operation and ancillary
buildings on site (retrospective) and expansion of
the operation's facilities.
Chalgrave
Heath & Reach
Cllr Versallion
Caroline Macrdechian
20 December 2018
21 March 2019
Direct Pallets Ltd.
Optimis Consulting
Call-in request received from Cllr Versallion
Full Application - Recommended for Refusal

Summary of Recommendation:
The site is in a sensitive location within open countryside and the South
Bedfordshire Green Belt. It is acknowledged that a portion of the site constitutes
previously developed land and the local planning authority is supportive of utilising
this area for the pallet operation. Landscape mitigation measures are proposed and
it is considered that the species are more appropriate to the setting of the site.
Nonetheless due to the excessive scale and intensive nature of the operations it is
considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the open
countryside and openness of the Green Belt. The development amounts to
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. It is not considered that the previous
reasons for refusal have been addressed, in fact the proposed expansion into the
adjacent field has exacerbated the issues. The very special circumstances are not
considered to outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt. It is considered
that the proposal conflicts with the objectives of national and local planning policy. It
is therefore recommended for refusal.
Site Location:
The application site is approximately 2.98 hectares in size. It is sited on the eastern
side of A5, Watling Street, in close proximity to the A5-M1 link road, which is south
of the application site.
The site itself has two distinct areas. The largest portion of the site that is in the
northernmost part of the site, was a former car salvage yard that contained cars
stacked in an open storage arrangement. A number of detached
buildings/structures were provided in the north western corner of the site and a
detached dwelling at the front of the site. A paddock area for the grazing of horses
was provided in the south western corner of this section of the site. Vegetation is
provided around the perimeter of the site, along with a green palisade fence that
was erected by the applicant in summer 2018. There were trees on the site but
these were cleared as part of the clearance work undertaken in 2018. The

Item 5
topography is flat. An application for the use of this part of the site as a pallet
Page 4
storage business was refused in August 2018 and is discussed in subsequent
sections of the report.
The second portion of the site is in the southernmost part of the site, and is an
agricultural field that has not been enclosed by the palisade fence referred to
above. This open field sits approximately 2m lower than the former car salvage yard
but is generally flat.
For clarification, the two distinct areas have been referred to as Parcel A and B in
the supporting Planning Statement. It is deemed appropriate to refer to the
application site on this basis: the former part car salvage yard is Parcel A and the
agricultural field is Parcel B.
The site lies within the South Bedfordshire Green Belt.
The Application:
Retrospective permission is sought for the demolition of all structures and buildings,
and retention of the pallet operation and ancillary buildings.
The application also seeks to expand the operation of the site into the adjacent field
(Parcel B), which is not retrospective. Despite a refusal of planning permission in
August 2018, the site has been operational within Parcel A since July 2018, a
matter of which Planning Enforcement are aware.
The existing access has been retained and upgraded.
The former dwelling house sited at the entrance to the site is retained for office
purposes. Within the western section of the site adjacent to the highway, parking for
38 staff cars is provided. To the rear of this and covering the majority of Parcel A
are hardscaped pallet storage areas, and loading and turning areas for HGVs. The
pallets would be stored at a height of 4.5m, which is a reduction to what is currently
seen on the site, which is approximately 5.5m to 6m.
Centrally positioned along the northern section of the site, there are two sheds for
undertaking pallet repairs. These sheds measure 6m by 24m, and have dual
pitched roofs with a maximum ridge height of 4.1m and an eaves height of 3.3m.
These are enclosed on three sides with an open frontage.
Other facilities include cycle storage and staff welfare facilities, which are positioned
close to the office.
Parcel B would constitute the trailer parking area for 10 trailers and 18 HGVs and
trailers. Access to this section of the site would be via a centrally positioned access
from Parcel B. There would be no direct access taken from the A5, Watling Street.
It is proposed that existing trees and landscaping on the site boundaries would be
retained and enhanced through additional landscaping.
The site is currently occupied by an active company, known as Direct Pallets, a
local company that recycles wooden pallets and has operated in the area for over
25 years. Direct Pallets formerly occupied three sites, located in Dunstable,
Ridgemont and Hulcote/Milton Keynes. The owners of Direct Pallets sold the site in
Tavistock Street and advised that they needed to vacate the premises by June
2018. Planning permission was initially secured in 2012 for 48 dwellings

Item 5
(12/01941/OUT) and a subsequent application was granted consent in March 2018
Page 5
(16/05657/FULL) for 55 affordable dwellings. The owners were advised that they
needed to vacate their Hulcote/Milton Keynes site. It is due to these matters that
they have sought to consolidate their operations at a single site.
The applicant has advised that the work at the site commenced as there was a
need to relocate to ensure existing employees were retained in employment. Since
relocating the operation has grown significantly and there is a desire to increase the
site area to meet the demands. More recently, the company has been approached
by an international corporation that have opened a nearby distribution centre.
Background Information:
A pre-application enquiry relating to the development of the site (Parcel A) for pallet
storage was submitted in January 2018. A proposed site plan with extensive
landscape buffering around the perimeter of the site was submitted, which also
showed landscaping within the site to demarcate the parking and pallet storage
areas. The main access route within the site was also lined with landscaping at
intermittent locations. A pre-application response dated 22nd February 2018 was
provided advising that a portion of the site could be considered as previously
developed land and the key concern would relate to the height of the stacked
pallets. A suggested starting point was 4m as it was deemed that any higher would
not be comparable to the previously approved housing scheme. It was confirmed
that the hard surfacing of the front portion of the site would be inappropriate
development within the meaning of the NPPF, unless very special circumstances
were put forward that were robust enough to outweigh the harm to the openness of
the Green Belt.
Following receipt of the pre-application response, the applicant submitted a full
application for Parcel A that was refused in August 2018 (18/01504/FULL). The
reasons for refusal were as follows:
·

·

The development would represent an inappropriate form of development that
would adversely affect the openness of the Green Belt. The very special
circumstances that have been put forward are insufficient to outweigh the harm
to the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal would be contrary to Section 13
of the National Planning Policy Framework.
The proposal would represent an inappropriate form of development that would
be detrimental to the character of the area and the open nature of the
countryside. The proposal is considered contrary to Policy BE8 of the South
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review and Section 12 of the NPPF.

The refused application was different to the pre-application scheme. It was a
retrospective application that provided hardstanding across the site, with limited
landscaping around the perimeter of the site and none within the site. The
installation of the hardstanding was completed during the determination period of
the application.
It is also necessary to consider the 2016 application for residential development at
the site, which is extant and expires on 28th June 2020. This application was for the
erection of 12 two storey dwellings with associated parking and access provision.
Each dwelling reached a maximum height of 9.8m. Approximately 2.4 acres of
paddock areas would be retained across the site, most notably along the eastern,
southern and western portions of the site. In the Case Officers report, it

Item 5
acknowledges that part of the site is previously developed land and a series of very
Page 6
special circumstances were agreed to justify the principle of development which
would otherwise be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.
POLICIES:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019)
2: Achieving sustainable development
4: Decision-making
9: Promoting sustainable transport
11: Making effective use of land
12: Achieving well-designed places
13: Protecting Green Belt land
15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review Policies
BE8 Design Considerations
T10 Parking - New Development
SD1 Keynote Policy
Central Bedfordshire Local Plan - Emerging
The Central Bedfordshire Local Plan has reached submission stage and was
submitted to the Secretary of State on 30 April 2018.
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 48) stipulates that from the
day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in
emerging plans unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The apportionment of this weight is subject to:
·
·
·

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan;
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies;
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework.

Reference should be made to the Central Bedfordshire Submission Local Plan
which should be given limited weight having regard to the above. The following
policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:
LP EE5: Landscape Character and Value
LP EMP1: Employment Sites and Uses
LP CC5: Sustainable Drainage
LP DC1: Re-use of Buildings in the Countryside
LP CC8: Pollution and Land Instability
LP EE4: Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
LP HQ1: High Quality Development
LP SP4: Development in the Green Belt
LP SP2: NPPF - Sustainable Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Other Documents
Central Bedfordshire Design Guide (March 2014)
Supplement 1
Placemaking in Central Bedfordshire

Relevant Planning History:
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date
Application Number
Description

Decision
Decision Date
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date
Application Number
Description

Decision
Decision Date

Item 5
Page 7

SB/97/00002/LDCE
Use of land for dismantling motor vehicles, distribution/sale
of parts, vehicle repairs, offices and storage
Granted
23/05/1997
CB/16/04498/FULL
Demolition of existing dwelling, workshop and ancillary
storage sheds, removal of mobile home, removal of
hardstanding; and erection of 12 dwellings, formation of new
access, remediation works, formation of SUDs and
associated landscaping.
Granted
29/06/2017
CB/18/00103/PAPC
Pre-application enquiry relating to the introduction of a pallet
business on the site
Pre-application advice released
22/02/2018
CB/18/01504/FULL
Demolition of some of the existing buildings/structures on the
site in connection with the change of use of the dwelling to
an office, ancillary to the use of the site for pallet storage and
distribution, along with associated parking.
Refused
16/08/2018

Consultees:
Chalgrave Parish
Council

Initial comments - Chalgrave Parish Council objects on
the basis that we have concerns over the number of
vehicles, particularly lorries on this stretch of already
overburdened single carriageway. There is also the issue
with slow moving lorries entering and exiting the site
onto a busy road.
Final comments - The applicant gave a presentation to
Chalgrave Parish Council in February. Concerns were
initially expressed about the number of lorries entering
and exiting the site. However, the applicant explained
that the system that would be used to lessen the impact
of lorry movements on the flow of traffic on the A5. The
landscaping to be put in place was also described. As a
result there are no objections.

Local Councillor

Call-in request received from Cllr. Versallion requesting
that the application be determined at committee should it
be recommended for refusal.

Highways

The previous application was assessed on the area of
land to be used for storage which has now increased

Item 5
slightly to an estimated 9,410m2. Although the total site
Page 8
area has increased due to the proposed HGV parking
spaces to the south of the site, the northern section of
the development now includes larger areas for loading
which have not been considered as part of the storage
element.
The Central Bedfordshire Parking Standards recommend
a maximum of 1 parking space per 30m2 (for less than
500m2) thereafter 1 parking space per 200m2 (for more
than 500m2). This would equate to a maximum of 61 car
spaces and the HGV parking provision would be 20 HGV
parking spaces, although the applicant is proposing 18
HGV spaces and 10 trailer spaces. The applicant has
indicated 38 car parking spaces but clearly has the
potential to create additional spaces. The potential
problems associated with not providing sufficient
off-street parking would usually result in additional
on-street parking on the public highway. As the Highway
Authority for the adjacent highway is Highways England, I
am not in a position to object on highway grounds.
I would point out that the Stormwater Drainage plan does
not incorporate the new area to the south, indeed the
internal access to this land runs across the attenuation
pond. The HGV parking area has been annotated as
permeable, therefore I would recommend you seek
clarification as to how diesel/oil contaminants will be
prevented from permeating in to the subsoil.
I recommend the following conditions are considered.
1. Before the premises are brought in to use all on site
vehicular areas shall be surfaced in accordance with the
approved drawing. Arrangements shall be made for
surface water drainage from the site to soak away within
the site so that it does not discharge into the highway or
into the main drainage system.
Reason: To avoid the carriage of mud or other
extraneous material or surface water from the site so as
to safeguard the interest of highway safety and reduce
the risk of flooding and to minimise inconvenience to
users of the premises and ensure satisfactory parking of
vehicles outside highway limits.
2. The turning space for vehicles illustrated on the
approved Plan (plan no. to be inserted) shall be
constructed before the development is first brought into
use and retained thereafter for that purpose.
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn
outside the highway limits thereby avoiding the reversing
of vehicles on to the highway.
3. The proposed development shall be carried out and
completed in all respects in accordance with the access

Item 5
siting and layout illustrated on the approved plan No. and
defined by this permission and, notwithstanding Page
the 9
provision of the Town and Country Planning General
Permitted Development Order 1995, (or any Order
revoking or re-enacting that Order) there shall be no
variation without the prior approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development of the site is
completed insofar as its various parts are interrelated and
dependent one upon another and to provide adequate
and appropriate access arrangements at all times.
Highways England

The current application has a revised planning statement
(dated 5 December 2018) that sets out a detailed
planning history for the site, however the transport
evidence appears to be similar to that supplied with
the previous application and as such Highways
England’s recommendation remains the same.
The proposed site access arrangement as shown in the
Transport Statement report, the drawing titled ‘Proposed
Site Access’, drawing no. 175200-001, revision-dated
April 2018, has been reviewed and subject to a stage 1
Road Safety Audit RSA. The developer needs to enter
into a section 278 with Highways England to deliver
the scheme.
Any grant of planning permission should have the
following conditions attached:
·

·

No development within the application area shall
be
undertaken
prior
to
the access being
constructed in accordance with the drawing titled
‘Proposed Site Access’ drawing no. 175200-001
revision -, dated April 2018
No development within the application area shall
be undertaken prior to the applicant entering into a
S278 with Highways England.

Reason for the conditions: To ensure A5 trunk road
will continue to fulfil its purpose as part of the
Strategic Road Network in accordance the Highway Act
1980, Circular 02/2013 ‘ the Strategic Road Network and
the Delivery of Sustainable Development’ the National
Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice
Guidance.
Pollution Team

This application is retrospective and the site is currently
operational. With regards to the submitted information, I
have no objections to the proposals.

Trees and Landscape
Officer

Initial comments - I have examined the plans and
documents relating to this application, in particular the
"Planning Statement" dated 5th December 2018 (Ref.
P593/PS Final). I have also referred to my previous

Item 5
consultation responses in respect of CB/18/01504/FULL,
Page 10
CB/18/00103/FULL and CB/16/04498/FULL, which also
relate to the site in question, and its previous application
history.
I should state that my support for previous applications
were always based on the existing site usage at the time,
which was the recognition of the site having a significant,
adverse visual impact being imposed on the surrounding
landscape. Subsequently, it was considered that any
suitable, alternative development on this site would
present an opportunity to reinforce, by way of planning
condition, the existing boundary planting, using a robust,
native planting scheme that could only serve to enhance
the area from that currently being experienced.
However, in respect of this current application, I should
state that my position regarding the positive
improvements that the existing site could gain from
enhanced and reinforced boundary landscaping, should
not be interpreted as now justifying any further expansion
into additional agricultural land, namely the inclusion of
Parcel B as part of the current development site
proposals.
I consider that the development of Parcel B would
undermine the original purpose of improving the visual
containment of the original site, recognising that further
site expansion would actually exacerbate adverse visual
impact on the surrounding countryside, by significantly
increasing the scale of the site within its green belt
setting. If the site is now expanded further, the provision
of any new landscaping, planted around the extended
site perimeter, will be much less effective in dealing with
the larger increase of internal area within.
Whilst I would always respond positively in enhancing the
existing boundaries of the present site, and have recently
supplied the applicant with appropriate planting
specifications for this purpose, I could not support an
increase in size of the present site usage by
encroachment into further green belt land. I should also
state that I cannot support the planting of Leylandii along
the A5 road frontage, as being proposed in Section 8.36
of the "Planning Statement", as this would present an
incongruous feature within its rural setting.
Final comments - Further to my previous comments, I
refer to the revised landscaping scheme "Proposed Site
Plan Landscaping Proposals" -Revision A, which has now
been submitted in support of this application.
Whilst the scheme does not reverse my concerns made
earlier regarding the principle of expansion of the site into
Parcel B, it does represent the best use of the perimeter
planting space being made available, given the

Item 5
constraints of the site inevitably imposed by its intended
Page 11
usage.
The planting scheme still requires appropriate landscape
planting and maintenance specifications to ensure that
cultivation, planting and aftercare procedures are
undertaken in accordance with best practice, to ensure
successful establishment and growing conditions.
However, this could be secured by way of a condition as
suggested below:
Prior to the completion of development, a Landscape
Works and Maintenance Specification shall be submitted
to the Local Planning Authority for approval, setting out
the procedures for implementing and maintaining the
landscaping scheme as submitted in the drawing
"Proposed Site Plan Landscaping Proposals -Revision
A". The approved Landscaping Works and Maintenance
Specification shall then be implemented as part of all
landscape preparation works, planting operations and
aftercare, which shall include an appropriate weed
control and watering programme. The maintenance and
aftercare period shall be for a minimum period of 5 years,
with any losses replaced in accordance with the
approved "Proposed Site Plan Landscaping Proposals"
drawing.
REASON
To ensure that satisfactory horticultural best practice is
undertaken as part of all landscape operations, in order
to ensure the health and successful establishment of all
landscaping planting.
National Grid Customer
Support Team

No response received.

Bedfordshire and River
Ivel Internal Drainage
Board

The Board notes that the intended method of storm water
discharge is via a balancing facility.
Also as the means of storm water disposal is to be via a
balancing facility it is essential that this be completed
prior to the construction of any impervious areas within
the site.
If the applicant does not wish to balance the flows to that
equivalent to the present peak of discharge from the
undeveloped land then the Board will require a once and
for all payment. This charge will be based on a rate of £5
per square metre of impermeable area discharging to the
watercourse.
Confirmation should be sought that the watercourse
culvert under the A5 Watling Street is suitable to handle
additional surface water run-off from the impermeable
area.

Ecology

Item 5
Page 12
The site area now includes the adjacent arable field, this
contains grade 3 agricultural land which, depending on
whether or not it is graded a or b, could be classified as
Best and Most Versatile, the loss of which should be
resisted.
The updated 2018 Ecological Appraisal confirms that all
features with any ecological interest, including 2 ponds,
have been removed and hence lost from the site. The
hedgerow holds the only remaining interest and it is
recommended that this be gapped up as part of any
landscaping condition to compensate for losses to the
wider site.
Given the loss of biodiversity value that the site has
already sustained substantial efforts to support ecological
enhancements would be expected.

SuDS Management
Team

We consider that planning permission could be granted
to the proposed development and the final design and
maintenance arrangements for the surface water system
agreed at the detailed design stage, if the following
recommendations and planning conditions are secured.
1. The watercourse to be discharged in to should be part
of the management plan.
2. Permeable surfaces are a better option for parking or
machinery areas. Where the use of permeable surfacing
is proposed, this should be designed in accordance with
the ‘CIRIA RP992 The SuDS Manual Update: Paper
RP992/28:
Design
Assessment
Checklists
for
Permeable/Porous Pavement’.
3. The final detailed design including proposed standards
of operation, construction, structural integrity and ongoing
maintenance must be compliant with the ‘Non-statutory
technical standards for sustainable drainage systems’
(March 2015, Ref: PB14308), ‘Central Bedfordshire
Sustainable Drainage Guidance’ (Adopted April 2014,
Updated May 2015), and recognised best practise
including the Ciria SuDS Manual (2016, C753).
4. To ensure future owners will be aware of any
maintenance requirements /responsibilities for surface
water drainage, including ditches; further measures
should be proposed by the applicant and may include, for
example, information provided to a purchaser of the
property and also designation/registration of the SuDS so
that it appears as a Land Charge for the property and as
such is identified to subsequent purchasers of the
property.
5. Land drainage Consent under the Land Drainage Act
1991 must be secured to discharge surface water to an

Item 5
existing watercourse/ditch, and details of this provided
Page 13
with the full detailed design. The agreement and rate (l/s)
must be included in relevant correspondence.
6. An easement should be provided on the developable
side of the watercourse to allow for access for
maintenance, this should be 9m but may depend on the
maintenance requirements considered appropriate.
Recommended condition;
Condition 1: The discharge rate from the development
will be limited to the equivalent 1 in 1 year rate, or an
appropriate rate as agreed by the Bedford Group of
Internal Drainage Boards or sewage undertaker. The final
detailed design shall be based on the agreed Drainage
Strategy (of various parts submitted before 10th January
2019) and DEFRAs Non-statutory technical standards for
sustainable drainage systems (March, 2018), and shall
be implemented and maintained as approved.
Maintenance will ensure the system functions as
designed for the lifetime of the development. Any
variation to the connections and controls indicated on the
approved drawing which may be necessary at the time of
construction would require the resubmission of those
details to the Local Planning Authority for approval.
The applicant should address points 1, 5 and 6 when
submitting details to discharge the condition:
Reason: To ensure the approved system will function to
a satisfactory minimum standard of operation and
maintenance and prevent the increased risk of flooding
both on and off site, in accordance with para 103 of the
NPPF.
Environment Agency

No objection to this application.
Advised that the Internal Drainage Board are consulted.
The site is located above a Principal Aquifer but do not
consider this proposal to be High Risk. Therefore, no
detailed site-specific advice or comments with regards to
land contamination issues for this site.
Informatives should be added directing the applicant to
the comments from the Environment Agency.

Landscape Officer

Apologies for delay in response, due to the character of
existing development and proposed extension it has
been necessary to visit the site surrounds again to inform
landscape assessment of proposals.
The application site is located adjacent to the A5 to the
north of Dunstable and Houghton Regis and within a
rural, relatively unsettled, setting at the transition between
the Eaton Bray Clay Vale (LCA 5A) and the
Toddington-Hockliffe Clay Hills (LCA 8A) which offer

Item 5
medium to long distance, panoramic views in places,
Page 14
across the application site and surrounding vale and clay
hills to the Chiltern chalk escarpment to the south and
south-west. These rural views, and reciprocal views, are
of high sensitivity to change and must be protected.
The application site also sits within a well used and well
connected framework of PROW, including FP16 running
alongside the northern site boundary and FP29 to the
south. The footpath network connects across the A5 and
vale to the rolling clay hills to the west, east and north
east of the site. The amenity of footpaths and enjoyment
of users of the countryside, and including views, are
considered as having high sensitivity to change.
The current operational area of the application site
(Parcel A) is highly intrusive in local views generally and
from PROW; the stacked pallets present an incongruous
juxtaposition of towers and repair sheds are in close
proximity to the northern site boundary and poorly
mitigated, in part due to the narrow corridor left for trees
and landscaping. The recently installed metal palisade
fencing is very industrial in appearance, is tight against
the site boundaries and is poorly mitigated by planting.
The recently planted Leylandii is not acceptable in terms
of landscape and character; although Leylandii may be
present in locations within the vicinity of the application
site the use of this tree is not encouraged.
The application also proposes extension of site to include
HGV and trailer parking to the southern portion (Parcel
B); the extension of development to the south of the
application site to store up to 18 number 4 metre plus
high HGVs, along with trailers, is of serious concern due
to the cumulative impact of 'development' on the
surrounding rural landscape, elevated views across the
application site and highly sensitive views from local
PROW.
Whilst the proposed planting to mitigate development is
appropriate in terms of species and types within the
deciduous landscape the screening capacity would be
seriously diminished in winter time due to loss of leaf.
Palisade fencing to the site boundaries is intrusive in
terms of character and again would be further exposed in
winter time.
The application refers to security CCTV but there
appears no reference to operational and security lighting;
this could be highly intrusive visually at nightime.
In conclusion; visual intrusion of development would have
a detrimental impact on immediate and wider landscape
character, openness of the countryside and amenity and
is contrary to:

Item 5
SBLP Policy B8
Page 15
NPPF Section 12, para 130. Section 13. Section 15, para
170.
Rights of Way Officer

No public right of way seems to be directly affected but
Chalgrave Public Footpath no. 45 lies to the north of the
site and Houghton Regis Public Footpath no. 29 lies to
the south. Houghton Regis Public Footpath no. 29 which
has a signpost at the A5 end should remain completely
unaffected by the proposals and any new planting or
fencing.
My previous comment for this site has been that the A5
footway between these two public rights of way should be
improved for pedestrians walking between the two. It is
disappointing that Highways England did not feel this was
significant in terms of the Road Safety Audit but surely
more people will be using these public rights of way and
choosing to walk along this footway once the proposed
housing and employment land to the south is in place.
Any improvement to the footway would also link into
Highways England's own new footway/cycleway provision
provided as part of the A5-M1 link road.

Other Representations:
Neighbours

No representations have been received.

Determining Issues:
The main considerations of the application are;
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Principle of Development
Impact on the Green Belt and open countryside
Neighbouring Amenity
Highway Considerations
Other Considerations

Considerations
1.
1.1

Principle of Development
The use of the site as a car scrapyard would have been sui generic and the
storage of pallets would fall within Use Class B8 (storage and distribution). No
issues were raised during the consideration of the pre-application where it was
considered that the introduction of open storage facilities would be acceptable
as a matter of principle but this would be subject to satisfying relevant policy
relating to development within the Green Belt, which is discussed in
subsequent sections of the report.

1.2

In terms of the change of use of the front dwelling to offices that would be
ancillary to the main use as a storage facility, this needs to be assessed
against the requirements of Policy H7 (Controlling the loss of Residential
Accommodation) of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review. Policy H7
seeks to protect the existing stock unless the change of use would represent
an acceptable loss to housing stock. As the dwelling is in an isolated location
and would be incompatible with the proposed use as a pallet yard, it is
deemed that the loss of the residential use to form ancillary office

accommodation would be acceptable in this instance.

Item 5
Page 16

1.3

As the site is located within the South Bedfordshire Green Belt then the
application must be assessed against the requirements of Section 13 of the
NPPF. Paragraph 143 states that inappropriate development is by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances (VSCs). However, VSCs would not exist unless the potential
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm
resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.
Certain types of development constitute exceptions and these are listed in
paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF.

1.4

The assessment of the impact on the Green Belt has been broken down into
three sections based on the nature of the application:
· Development within the paddock area and Parcel B;
· Previously developed land in Parcel A;
· Provision of Pallet repair sheds and other structures.
Development within the paddock area and Parcel B

1.5

The development of these areas would not fall within the exceptions set out in
paragraphs 145 or 146 of the NPPF. A series of VSCs have been put forward
within the supporting Planning Statement, and these are as follows:
· Cessation of the use of the site as a scrapyard, which was a
non-conforming use in the Green Belt;
· The amalgamation and relocation of the pallet business will allow for
retention of an established business;
· Long term future of Direct Pallets will be secured;
· Rateable value of the site = £134,000 (letter from Valuation Office Agency
provided dated 13th February 2019);
· Total number of employees equals 69;
· Proposal enables scope for the business to continue to grow and create
more jobs;
· Proposal will ensure the site remains in employment use;
· Vacating the Dunstable site has enabled the provision of dwellings as per
consent 16/05657/FULL;
· Traffic congestion has been removed from Dunstable Town Centre;
· Visual and physical improvements to the site;
· A safe and improved access to the site;
· Net loss in the building footprint compared to the residential scheme that
was approved on the site under reference 16/04498/FULL;
· Landscape enhancements;
· Environmental enhancements: introduction of appropriate surface water
drainage and decontaminating the site.

1.6

The retention of the business in the District and subsequent retention of local
jobs is deemed a positive aspect of the proposal. Additionally, the NPPF
identifies the importance of building a strong, competitive economy and
paragraph 83 emphasises the need to support sustainable growth and
expansion of businesses in rural areas, although this does not relate to open
storage.

1.7

Closure of the Dunstable site on Tavistock Street to enable the provision of
dwellings, and associated highway improvements this has brought to
Dunstable have been put forward as VSCs. Whilst the provision of dwellings is
beneficial to Dunstable, it is not considered that these VSCs appropriately

justify an inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

Item 5
Page 17

1.8

Comparison is made to the scale and form of the extant housing development
but it is not considered that these can be directly compared as the two
schemes are very different. The housing scheme did not include Parcel B and
despite the dwellings having a maximum height of 9.8m, they did not cover the
entirety of the site as large paddock areas were proposed so a sense of
openness was retained with the built form limited in the main to the previously
developed sections of the site.

1.9

It is noted that the rateable value of the site is high but this should not weigh
against the need to ensure that all aspects that encompass sustainable
development are achieved. The specific environmental enhancements include
the introduction of surface water drainage and decontamination of the site.
Whilst these improvements are noted, the majority of Parcel A has been
finished in concrete as a result of the site being capped off. Whilst capping off
the site is a suitable means to deal with contamination it has resulted in an
expansive area of hardstanding that has resulted in the loss of the former
paddock area.

1.10

The applicant has put forward the landscape enhancements as a VSC and
this is discussed in subsequent sections of the report.

1.11

A further consideration in regard to Parcel B, is that it would represent
encroachment in the countryside. As specified in paragraph 134 of the NPPF,
the Green Belt serves five purposes, one of which is to assist in safeguarding
the countryside from encroachment. The supporting Planning Statement
concludes that the proposal would not conflict with any of the five purposes.
However, the local planning authority considers that expansion of the business
into an adjacent agricultural field to enable HGV parking would result in
unacceptable encroachment into the countryside.

1.12

In response, none of these factors either on their own or in combination clearly
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. They do not demonstrate that the site
has a unique feature or features required to accommodate the proposal. They
are not matters which go above and beyond to be considered as ‘very special’.
Previously developed land in Parcel A

1.13

Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that there are exceptions and of relevance
is point (g), which states:
· Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use which would:
· Not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development;
· Not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where
the development would re-use previously developed land and
contribute to meeting an identified affordable housing need within the
area of the local planning authority.

1.14

The local planning authority acknowledge that part of the site within Parcel A
qualifies as previously developed land and this was confirmed in the
pre-application response and determination of the refused application. It must
be noted that the pre-application advice pre-dates the NPPF July 2018 but the
general thrust of national policy on this matter is not considered to have
altered and therefore the pre-application response is still relevant. On balance

Item 5
it is considered that the development of the previously developed parcels of
Page 18
land on the site would be appropriate, as a matter of principle.
Provision of pallet repair shed and other facilities
1.15

Paragraph 145 of the NPPF indicates exceptions for the construction of new
buildings in the Green Belt. One of these exceptions relates to the
replacement of a building, provided the building is in the same use and not
materially larger than the one it replaces. A series of buildings used for
storage and repairs were provided on the site. The provision of two pallet
repair sheds and welfare facilities is therefore deemed acceptable and are not
considered to have an adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

1.16

Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal provides a number of positive
aspects, it is considered that the manner in which the site has been developed
represents an inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt and would
therefore be in conflict with the requirements of Section 13 of the NPPF. The
intention to expand the business into the open countryside would exacerbate
the impact of the development and has not overcome the previous reasons for
refusal.

2.
2.1

Impact on the Green Belt and open countryside
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF sets out the manner in which planning decisions
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. This is
also a requirement of Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review.

2.2

The site lies in a rural location between the Eaton Bray Clay Vale and the
Toddington-Hockliffe Clay Hills which offer panoramic views across the site and
the surrounding area. These views, and those from the surrounding network of
public rights of way (PROW) are of high sensitivity to change and must be
protected.

2.3

Proposed landscape enhancements include the retention of trees around the
perimeter of the site, most notably the southern boundary and enhanced
planting around the entire perimeter of the site and on land that separates
Parcel A and B.

2.4

An initial landscape proposal was submitted but the Tree Officer advised that
the provision of leylandii along the Watling Street frontage would represent an
incongruous feature within the rural setting, a concern that has also been raised
by the Landscape Officer.

2.5

In response to this, a revised landscaping plan was submitted and the Tree
Officer has advised that this represents the best use of the perimeter planting
available, given the constraints of the site and a condition could be imposed to
secure maintenance specifications, amongst other things. The Landscape
Officer has also advised that the proposed species are suitable but has raised
concern that the screening would be limited during the winter months.

2.6

Owing to the intense nature of the operations on the site, it is considered highly
intrusive to local views and from the PROW, with the stacked pallets appearing
as an incongruous form of towers that are poorly mitigated by current
landscaping. It is noted that the pallets are currently stacked at heights varying
from 5.5 to 6m, whereas the proposal seeks them stacked at a height of 4.5m,
which would be lower than the stacked cars (previously stacked at 5-6 cars per
stack). Reducing the stacking height to 4.5m would assist in reducing the

Item 5
impact of the development, although given the intense nature and expanse of
the operations it would not wholly address the issues. The palisade fencingPage
that 19
encloses Parcel A is also considered visually intrusive due to its industrial
nature.
2.7

In terms of the development of Parcel B, neither the Tree Officer or Landscape
Officer are able to support this. Further site expansion would exacerbate the
adverse visual impact on the surrounding rural landscape and the inner
perimeter planting would be less effective in dealing with the larger increase of
internal area, and its effectiveness would diminish during the winter months.

2.8

A further concern raised by the Landscape Officer relates to security provision
in terms of CCTV and lighting and the visually intrusive nature of this,
particularly at night-time. These concerns are noted but it is considered that if
minded to approve appropriate conditions could be imposed.

2.9

In summary, it is considered that the visual intrusion of the development would
have a detrimental impact on the immediate and wider landscape character,
which would be detrimental to the open nature of the countryside and the Green
Belt. The proposal would therefore be contrary to policy BE8 of the South
Bedfordshire Local Plan, and section 12, 13 and 15 of the NPPF.

3.
3.1

Neighbouring Amenity
Owing to the location of the site away from residential or other uses, no issues
are raised regarding impact on neighbouring amenity.

4.
4.1

Highway Matters
A Transport Statement was submitted with the application. Consultation was
undertaken with the Council's Highway Development Team and Highways
England who are the highway authority responsible for this section of the A5.

4.2

Access and egress to the site is provided via the existing access point. The
gated entrance point is set back within the site to enable HGVs to wait without
causing congestion on Watling Street. The final response from Highways
England advised that the proposal was acceptable subject to conditions that
are set out in the consultee section of the report. These are
pre-commencement conditions and the local authority are liaising with
Highways England to ensure they are aware the site is operational.

4.3

The Council's Highway Development Team have assessed the application
based on the slightly increased storage area of 9,410sq.m. Although the total
site area has increased due to the proposed HGV parking spaces to the south
of the site (Parcel B), the northern section of the development now includes
larger areas for loading which have not been considered as part of the storage
element.

4.4

The proposed open storage use would equate to a maximum of 61 car
parking spaces and 20 HGV parking spaces, although the proposal seeks 18
HGV spaces and 10 trailer spaces. The application indicates that 38 parking
spaces can be provided but there is potential for additional spaces to be
created. The potential problems associated with not providing sufficient
off-street parking would usually result in additional on-street parking on the
public highway. As the Highway Authority for the adjacent highway is
Highways England, therefore it is appropriate to object on highway grounds.

4.5

Item 5
Additionally, highway have indicated that the Stormwater Drainage plan does
not incorporate the new area to the south, indeed the internal access toPage
this 20
land runs across the attenuation pond. The HGV parking has been annotated
as permeable therefore it would be necessary to seek how diesel/oil
contaminations would be prevented from permeating the subsoil.

5.

Other Considerations

5.1

Human Rights and Equality Act issues:
Based on information submitted there are no known issues raised in
the context of Human Rights / The Equalities Act 2010 and as such
there would be no relevant implications.

Recommendation:
That Planning Permission be refused subject to the following:
RECOMMENDED REASONS
1

The proposed development represents inappropriate development in the
Green Belt, which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. The proposal
would be detrimental to the openness and visual amenity of the Green Belt,
and an encroachment into the countryside. The very special circumstances
put forward are not considered to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. The
proposal is therefore contrary to Section 13 (Protecting Green Belt land) of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019.

2

The proposal, as a result of the excessive scale and intensive nature of the
operation, would represent an inappropriate form of development that would
be detrimental to the character of the area and the open nature of the
countryside. The proposal is considered contrary to Policy BE8 of the South
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review and Section 12, 13 and 15 of the NPPF,
February 2019.

DECISION
......................................................................................................................................
......................................................................................................................................

14

6

12

7

Pond

31

Item 6
Page 1
11

29

FO

LL

Y

LA

27

N

E

19

13

1

1A

Allotment
Gardens

2

Tr

ac

k
2

1

8

Caddington
Path

(um

)

AD

E
BL

RO

A
ST

23

UN

D

13
25

9

The
Cricketers
(PH)

33

29
31

170.1m

El
Sub Sta

D

35

Hall

Surgery

E
OS
CL

4

7

RD

1

A
CH

OR

5
5a

4a

51

19

1

18
15

17

5

16

2

82

80
21

DR

29

MOSSM
AN

IV

55

4
6
2

E

25

75

73
1

79

77
22

MO

3

16

81

OR

81a

ING

83
85

RIS

9

HOFA
LLRYM

5

E

El

CLO

18

93

SE

61

Sub Sta

53

161.3m

1

11

12

1

163.0m

15

Surger
y

22

Runny
Mede
2a

69

50

36

73

4

3

Tamara

30

73a

56
42
89

46a

37

87

16

75

46

40

48

24

El Sub Sta

th

40

99

T

MANCROFT ROAD

N
CRE
EHSO
CRT
W

HA

MARO
NOAD
R

97

25

28

79

Pa

2
12

2
60

Application No.
CB/17/05679/OUT

4

27

ESS
29

159.0m

El
39

Sub Stas

1

70

31

Map Sheet No

4

61

L
WIL

OW

a
70

62

33

S

E
OV

GR

Land adjoining Dunstable Road and to the rear of My Folly and the Scout Hut,
Dunstable Road, Caddington, LU1 4AL
5

49

DS

119a

117

27

72

119

N
SSLA
CRO

72

72

64

21

123

80

19

84

Scale: 1:2500

105

52

54a

13

25

E Date: 08:April:2019

W

CASE NO.

1

NS

ON GD

SUTT

101

1

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)
21

N

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 6
Page 3
APPLICATION NUMBER
LOCATION
PROPOSAL
PARISH
WARD
WARD COUNCILLORS
CASE OFFICER
DATE REGISTERED
EXPIRY DATE
APPLICANT
AGENT
REASON FOR
COMMITTEE TO
DETERMINE

CB/17/05679/OUT
Land adjoining Dunstable Road and to the Rear of
My Folly and the Scout Hut, Dunstable Road
Caddington LU1 4AL
Outline Application: Residential development and
associated infrastructure
Caddington
Caddington
Cllrs Collins & Stay
Stuart Kemp
04 December 2017
05 March 2018
Bedfordshire Land Promotions
JLL
Called-in by Cllr Stay if the application is
recommended for approval or refusal for the
following reasons:
Concerns over traffic calming & traffic management
Flooding concerns & I believe that because of the
level of local interest & concern this is an
application that should go before DMC to allow
those views to be properly heard
An objection has been received by Caddington
Parish Council contrary to the recommendation to
grant planning permission.

RECOMMENDED
DECISION

Outline Application - Recommended for Approval

Reason for Recommendation:
Outline planning permission is sought for a residential development and associated
infrastructure. Approval is being sought for the matter of access, with the remaining
matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for consideration at reserved
matters application stage.
The site of the proposed dwellings is allocated in the South Bedfordshire Local Plan
Review 2004 for residential development under Policy H1(19). The remainder of
the site is allocated in the Local Plan as recreational land under Policy R8 and
would contain a play area. The proposal is therefore acceptable in principle.
A policy compliant scheme of 14 affordable units (30%), with a tenure split of 10
units of affordable rent (73%) and 4 units of shared ownership (27%) would be
delivered.
The proposed vehicular access to Dunstable Road is acceptable, and subject to the
attachment of conditions to any planning permission granted, the proposal is
acceptable in terms of its general highways impact and in terms of surface water
impact.

Item 6
A full judgement on the layout and design of the proposal, and the impact on the
amenity of neighbouring and future occupants, can only be made whenPage
a 4
subsequent reserved matters application is submitted.
Site Location:
The application site of 2.1 hectares is an irregular shaped parcel of land to the north
west of Dunstable Road. The site is currently vacant but was previously an
agricultural smallholding occupied by a single dwelling ('My Folly'), a British Legion
Hut (now demolished), and former clay workings.
The land generally falls from east to west but a seasonal pond central in the site,
sitting in its own basin about 8m lower than the north east corner of the site, cuts
into higher land towards the east.
The majority of the site is characterised by scrub land. There are a number of
mature trees and previously a large stand of Japanese Knotweed which has now
been removed from the site.
The site is made up of broadly two parcels of land:
- Parcel 1 (eastern section of the site) is a 'white' land site in the village of
Caddington excluded from the Green Belt in the South Bedfordshire Local Plan
Review. It is allocated for residential development (Policy H1(19)) in the Local Plan.
- Parcel 2 (western section of the site) is in the Green Belt but is allocated in the
Local Plan as recreational land (Policy R8).
A public footpath FP9 runs just inside the north east boundary of the site.
There are two vehicular accesses to the site; the first was the former access to the
dwelling 'My Folly' and the second is at the eastern end of the site.
The site wraps around a pair of semi detached dwellings (Nos. 80 and 82 Dunstable
Road) and a Scout Hut, a simple brick built structure with a pitched roof.
To the north east of the site are allotments, part of which is also allocated for
residential development under Policy H1(19). On the opposite side of Dunstable
Road is the built up area of the village of Caddington, generally characterised by
detached dwellings. To the north and west of the site is agricultural land either
used for arable crops or grazing.
The Application:
Outline planning permission is sought for a residential development and associated
infrastructure.
Approval is being sought for the matter of access, with the remaining matters of
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for consideration at reserved matters
application stage.
A Proposed Indicative Masterplan (plan RD1668-GA-300) has been submitted with
the application which provides a layout including 47 dwellings within the H1(19) land
and a play area in the R8 land.
Public footpath FP9 would be retained.

Relevant Policies:

Item 6
Page 5

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2018
Section 2: Achieving sustainable development
Section 4: Decision-making
Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11: Making effective use of land
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
Section 13: Protecting Green Belt land
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review, January 2004
Policy BE8 Design Considerations
Policy T10 Controlling Parking in New Developments
Policy H1 Provision for Housing
Policy H3 Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy H4 Providing Affordable Housing
Policy R8 Proposed Area of New Urban Open Space in Caddington
Policy R10 Children's Play Area Standard
Policy R11 Provision of New Urban Open Space in New Residential Developments
The NPPF advises of the weight to be attached to existing local plans for plans
adopted prior to the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, as in the case of
the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review. Due weight can be given to relevant
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the
Framework. It is considered that Policies BE8, H1, H3, H4, R8, R10 and R11 are
broadly consistent with the Framework and carry significant weight. Policy T10
carries less weight but is considered relevant to the proposal.
Central Bedfordshire Local Plan - Emerging
The Central Bedfordshire Local Plan has reached submission stage and was
submitted to the Secretary of State on 30 April 2018.
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 48) stipulates that from the
day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in
emerging plans unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The apportionment of this weight is subject to:
·
·
·

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan;
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies;
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework.

Reference should be made to the Central Bedfordshire Submission Local Plan
which should be given limited weight having regard to the above. The following
policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:

Item 6
Policy SP1: Growth Strategy
Policy SP2: National Planning Policy Framework - Presumption in Favour Page
of 6
Sustainable Development
Policy SP4: Development in the Green Belt
Policy H1: Housing Mix
Policy H2: Housing Standards
Policy H4: Affordable Housing
Policy T1: Mitigation of Transport Impacts on the Network
Policy T2: Highway Safety and Design
Policy T3: Parking
Policy EE1: Green Infrastructure
Policy EE2: Enhancing biodiversity
Policy EE4: Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
Policy EE12: Public Rights of Way
Policy CC1: Climate Change and Sustainability
Policy CC3: Flood Risk Management
Policy CC5: Sustainable Drainage
Policy CC6: Water Supply and Sewerage Infrastructure
Policy HQ1: High Quality Development
Policy HQ2: Planning Obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy
Policy HQ3: Provision for Social and Community Infrastructure
Policy HE1: Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Other Documents
Central Bedfordshire Design Guide, March 2014
Relevant Planning History:
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date

CB/18/03044/FULL
New farm access to arable field
Conditional Planning Permission
18 January 2019

CB/15/04693/PAPC - Pre-application Charging Fee Advice Released: Erection of
50 dwellings (22 April 2016)
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date

CB/10/03478/OUT
Outline application for 50 dwellings, with access off
Dunstable Road
Undetermined as awaiting signature of S106 Agreement
CB/10/04245/SCN
Development of 54 dwellings and access road
EIA not required
25 November 2010

Land at the Garden Allotments, Dunstable Road, Caddington (immediately to the
north east of the application site):
Application Number
Description
Decision
Decision Date

CB/10/04594/OUT
Erection of residential development (approx 25 dwellings)
Withdrawn
10 February 2015

Item 6
Page 7

Consultees:
Caddington Parish
Council

Object to this application.
We have a number of concerns regarding;
Site entrance,
Scout hut,
Park/Play area,
Flooding,
Traffic calming,
Affordable homes.
See below;
The last application that was granted to develop the
site, now known as Caddington Oaks, started in 2009
and in the period before it was granted permission a
public meeting was held and the resolutions that came
from the meeting are still relevant to the new application
of today.
Site entrance
We feel that this is dangerous and could cause severe
problems when turning right towards Dunstable, with
vehicles speeding around a corner up Dunstable Rd.
Turning left towards the village, up over the new
proposed zebra crossing, cars would have to slow down
to go over the raised table straight after the entrance
this would cause severe problems with vehicles coming
up Dunstable Rd. We consider the single speed table
too long – enabling cars to speed up whilst on it, so may
be ineffective.
Scout hut
We would like an assurance that the scouts will be
treated in a considerate manner as they are the nearest
neighbours to the new proposed development and in
the nature of their activities there can be noise from
rowdy children and in the future they will not be classed
as anti-social neighbours and a noise nuisance. And if
the application is granted a section would be written into
the documentation protecting them.
We have concerns over child protection and
safeguarding children as the scout site will be
completely overlooked by neighbouring houses.
Park/Play Area
Caddington Parish Council, at a full council meeting,
decided that they did not want another park. We own
three already and are struggling to fund equipment for
them.

Item 6
The site of this new proposed park seems to have an
Page 8
entrance coming straight onto Dunstable Rd
carriageway, which would be very dangerous. Also, it is
bordered on the other side with open water (swales).
Again we consider this to be very dangerous.
Any new park would probably have a certain amount of
funding for a certain number of years for maintenance
and running costs but these monies would eventually
cease and it would become a burden on tax payers of
Caddington. So, if application for housing is granted, the
parish would prefer any S106 monies to go to one of
Caddington’s other parks to upgrade/put new equipment
in?
Flood alleviation scheme
On the last granted application on the site, for 50 some
odd dwellings, a flood alleviation scheme was
negotiated and suited all stake holders. From Steve
Thomas, Chief engineer at the time for Central Beds,
Nick Calavello senior engineer for Amey, Thames water
engineers, residents of the parish, the parish council
and the applicant.
It consisted of retaining the onsite pond (to the North
east side of the site) as a balancing pond with
attenuation tanks. Overflow and road runoff went to the
edge of the site on the R8 land where a system of
ponds and swales dissipated the water before it got to
Dunstable Rd.
It was deemed by the engineers mentioned that it would
not be a practical solution to have a set of settlement
ponds at Dunstable Rd end.
It was also suggested that straight flow through the site
was not a good idea. It seems that we have both of
these on the new plan. The straight through flow from
one corner of the site to the other moves water too fast
into the swale system and now the suggested new
overflow pond, which will fill up quicker and add storm
water faster into the Dunstable Rd system. This is not
the way that water management was envisaged for the
site. Slow water movement was the preferred option.
The lower end of the site Dunstable Rd and Mancroft
Rd area suffers dramatically from flooding at present
(and always has done) and we feel this development
would make the situation worse. As the previous
application felt it necessary to have the pond on the NE
side of the site why has it been removed from this
updated plan and where are the attenuation tanks to be
sited?

Item 6
There are more questions than answers on this
9
application. We understand that outline planning is Page
to
only outline the basics, some form of schematics to
outline sizes and dimensions would mean that we would
not be asking the following questions.
What size will the underground pipe be, we take it will
be 1.5 diameter the same as used in the area.
Where it joins the allotment land and leaves the site to
the R8 land will there be brick culverts with metal grids
to stop animals or children from getting in the pipes.
What will be the depth of the first ponds and swales.
What is the depth of the overflow pond and its
subsequent dry overflow pond.
The latest figures show that last summer was a dry
year. All data to support the new flood alleviation
scheme was gathered then. If the site was viewed at the
end of December/beginning of January when it was
completely flooded and under water, which was clarified
by one of Caddington ward officers - maybe a different
system would be considered.
There is a major concern as to who will maintain the
drainage system after the houses are built and what will
be the frequency of maintenance. Regular maintenance
will be absolutely vital.
Will there be a ditch on the farm side of the hedge
border of the site to take water away from site (currently
it floods from water from farmland).
We cannot support this application because we don’t
have enough answers. If we have missed these details
please tell us in what books and their page details if not
ask the applicant to update the application. We would
hope that a more thorough and proper flood analysis
and drainage plan will be included in the next stage of
the application.
Traffic calming
Central Beds council agreed, on the last application,
that off site traffic calming was needed by way of
another raised table between Holly Farm Close and
Mardle Close Dunstable Rd Caddington. Can we please
have this re-incorporated into this application? Without it
traffic would not be slow enough.
Affordable homes
The application is for 47 sellable dwellings. There are
more sellable dwellings than the previous application

Item 6
because there were 19 affordable homes on the last
Page 10
application. This outline does not show any affordable
homes. The planning statement paragraph 4.36/ 4.42
gives the impression that the applicant could be looking
for offsite provision or a financial contribution. We do
not think that this is acceptable. We would like to see
provision of affordable homes, as per CBC policy.
Central Beds need social and affordable housing more
than it needs reduced contributions.
In addition we have concerns for a number of other
issues, which we know to be relevant;
Newts have been found on site in the last few months.
There is a public footpath to the North East of the site,
which will need securely fencing off from the site.
As the site is so steep will there be a need for pile
driving? – concern re. damage to foundations of
neighbouring properties if so.
Query who will maintain all the trees and hedges on site
after it is adopted?
Highways (Development
Management) - Final
Response

The application proposes the erection of 47 dwellings
on land on the north-western side of Dunstable Road,
Caddington.
The site is allocated for residential
development in the Local Plan (Policy H1, Site 19) and
there is considerable history relating to it.
The application is in outline form with all matters, except
means of access to be reserved for subsequent
approval. In application number CB/10/3478/OUT this
issue of the access had been fully investigated and
reported.
Subsequently I am satisfied with the
arrangement.
The internal road layout comprises of a 4.8m wide
carriageway which should be 5.5m and the parking bays
by the main junction are too close. However, these
matters can be dealt with in the detailed application.
It is noted that this application retains the existing Scout
Hut and its access onto Dunstable Road. Given that
these are shown to lie within the red edge of the
application site, the opportunity should be taken to
improve access to the Scout Hut by providing the
appropriate levels of visibility. It is therefore suggested
that visibility splays of 2.4 x 56m are provided in both
directions at this access.
Notwithstanding the issue of adequate visibility, there is
still an issue of excessive speed and considering the
general increase in activity the development would
promote there is merit in promoting initiative to lower

Item 6
this speed. With this in mind a sum should be sought to
Page 11
go toward implementing some form of traffic
management. For a scheme of this size I would
consider that a sum of £45,000 would be appropriate
and I will offer a Grampian condition to cover this.
Currently there is not a footway provision along the
north-western side of Dunstable Road. In order to
improve connectivity for pedestrians and link the
development to the existing network, a 2.0 m wide
footway should be provided across the whole of the site
frontage. A pedestrian crossing is shown to be located
some 32m north-east of the site access. Therefore the
footway on the north-western side of Dunstable Road
will need to extend to meet it.
Subject to the provision of a modified access junction to
Dunstable Road, the provision of the requisite visibility
splays at the junctions and the provision of a 2.0m wide
footway as described above, the means of access to the
site can be deemed to be acceptable.
However there are issues with the internal road layout
which need to be addressed. As the layout is subject to
reserved matter approval, these are capable of being
resolved without refusing the outline application.
Of particular concern is the off-street parking provision
and the lack of turning space at the end of the larger
shared access way. With that I advise that the parking
provision should be in accordance with the authority's
standard but again this can be conditioned.
In a highway context it is recommend that conditions
and informatives be included if planning approval is to
be issued.
Trees and Landscape - Further to our site meeting following my previous
Final Response
consultation response, I now refer to the revised
documents submitted, namely the Arboricultural
Implications Report -Addendum, , dated September
2018, the revised Tree Protection Plan (Drawing No. SJA
TPP 17 160-01b -Revision B), dated 3rd September
2018, both prepared by SJA Trees. Also submitted were
the Appendix Add03 (Geotechnical Constraints) as
prepared
by
BRD
Environmental
Ltd,
(Ref
BRD1718.let11), Appendix Add04 (Existing and
Proposed Contour Plans), and Appendix 5 Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (Soil Contamination), both prepared
by SJA Trees.
I confirm that I now accept the findings provided by the
additional information, and agree that there is no other
alternative in respect of the loss of trees from this site. I
therefore withdraw my earlier objection subject to the
imposition of conditions.

Landscape - Final
Response

Item 6
Page 12
Given the sensitivity of the site setting in relation to the
AONB – a national landscape designation of the highest
standing and requiring similar protection afforded to
National Parks - my original comments stand relating to
need to avoid visual impact of change on the AONB and
the intrusion of light at night time:
‘The LVIA is appreciated and views / assessment of
impact of change covered in summer months is
acceptable but views in winter months don't appear to be
covered where leaf loss would reveal views to
development especially from the AONB to the north west
/ west. Having revisited the site and surrounds to assess
views in winter time - this is a concern.
The D&AS highlights the impact of light pollution with
reference to CPRE light pollution mapping - which is a
real positive - but the LVIA fails to assess potential
impact of light on adjoining landscapes. including the
AONB, and this is disappointing - Modern lighting within
the public realm can be managed to reduce impact of
lighting but alongside domestic lighting cumulatively can
have a highly detrimental visual impact on dark
landscapes and can extend the visual impression of
development at night time
To mitigate visual impact of development on views from
the AONB / local PROW, especially during winter months
and at night time, the site area within the application 'red
line' boundary to the north- north west of proposed built
development must be included as a woodland shelter belt
to assist in mitigating views and included as part of
landscape management of associated POS, SuDS and
play area.’
To ensure the protection of the setting of the AONB and
to avoid detrimental impact of views on to development a
treed shelterbelt is required to be included up to the north
/ north west ‘red line’ application site boundary to
integrate development and mitigate visual intrusion.

Ecology

Having read through the Ecological Appraisal there is no
ecological objection to the proposal. The revised layout
from that of the earlier application no longer retains the
pond on site but instead provides for off site
enhancements in the land to the west. These measures
in addition to retention of boundary trees and hedgerows
and green corridors through the site should deliver a net
gain for biodiversity. To ensure mitigation and
enhancement measures are achieved a condition
requiring a landscape and ecological management plan
(LEMP) should be applied.

Public Protection

Topics considered:

Item 6
Page 13

Air Quality
Contaminated Land
Noise
Light
Odour
This application is for a site which was subject to a
previous application (CB/10/03478) for a similar scheme
(albeit a smaller site). This application was supported by
a noise assessment which recommended mitigation in
the form of glazing and ventilation.
This current
application appears not to be supported by such a report
and no mitigation is suggested. I therefore object at this
stage subject to receiving such information (perhaps we
have time to receive this). It may be prudent to
undertake a new assessment given the difference in site
size, length of time since the last one and this could
perhaps consider the noise from external scouting
activities.
However, should you be minded to recommend approval
of this application you may wish to consider placing a
condition requiring noise attenuation measures - as well
as a remediation strategy condition - on any permission.
Archaeology

The proposed development site lies within a known
prehistoric archaeological landscape that includes sites
and of local and national importance (HER 16065, HER
2036 & HER 605). Under the terms of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) these are heritage
assets with archaeological interest.
Limited archaeological trial trenching of the proposed
development site was undertaken prior to the submission
of CB/10/03478/OUT and has demonstrated that there
are few surviving below ground archaeological features at
this location (Foundations Archaeology 2010). As a
consequence the archaeological potential of this
particular area is considered to be low and therefore if
planning was granted for the proposals outlined in this
application, there would be no archaeological constraint.

Sustainable Growth

Sustainability Statement submitted in support of this
application acknowledges policy requirements and states
that the development will be designed to be energy
efficient, deliver at least 10% of its energy from
renewable or low carbon sources and achieve the higher
water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day.
To ensure that these standards are achieved it is
requested that a planning condition is attached.

Item 6
Page 14
Self and Custom Build

The proposed site has a potential to deliver serviced plots
for self and custom housebuilders registered on the
Central Bedfordshire’s Self and Custom Build Register.
The Council is operating the Register since April 2016
and will look to support applications for the delivery of
serviced plots in suitable locations and where the need
can be demonstrated.
Currently there are 241 people registered on the Central
Bedfordshire’s self and Custom Build Register: 18 of
them are looking for a plot located in the Caddington,
Dunstable, Houghton Regis, Luton, Whipsnade and
Studham area; 28 people are looking for a plot anywhere
within Central Bedfordshire, and additional 161 would
consider plot outside their preferred location. The
developer is asked to deliver 10% plots as serviced plots
within this development.
The Council’s expectations for serviced plots delivery are:
- serviced plots should be located in an area that
has its own direct access, independent from the
rest of the development to allow for the self and
custom build project to be delivered as early as
possible within the development timescales and be
independent from the rest of the development;
- all serviced plots have, or will be provided within a
specified period (normally expected within 18
months of granting outline planning permission),
access to a public highway and connection to
electricity, water and waste water, and gas where
the gas network is present in the area and
connection is viable;
- all plots once delivered will be offered to people
who are on the CBC Register first, before being
marketed to a wider open market;
- each individual dwelling will be completed within 5
years of purchasing a plot or within 3 years of
detailed planning permission being granted
whichever comes sooner (these time limits are to
protect local amenity and provide assurance to
other self and custom builders that projects will be
delivered within similar timescale).
The table below provides a summary of headline
information from the Register and up to date count of
permitted serviced plots (15/12/2017).

Level of demand from the Register

Item 6
Page 15

Permitted number of plots

Total up to date

241

1st period
April to 30th October 2016

73

2nd period
31st October 2016 to 30th October 2017

154

3nd period
31st October 2017 to 30th October 2018

14

Total up to date
Within delivery period
31st October 2016 to 30th October
2019
Within delivery period
31st October 2017 to 30th October
2020
Within delivery period
31st October 2018 to 30th October
2021

7
7

0

N/A

Location
Number of people looking for a plot in the application’s location or anywhere within CBC

46

Number of plots permitted within the above location

0

Number of people looking or willing to consider a plot outside their preferred location (in
addition to people looking for a plot in the application’s location or anywhere within CBC)

161

The Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as
amended) places a legal duty on Local Planning
Authorities to operate a Register of people interested in
self and custom housebuilding in their area and to grant
permission for a sufficient number of serviced plots to
match the demand demonstrated by the local Register.
The Council has 3 years to meet the demand for each
registration period, with first period ending on 30th
October 2016 and subsequent 12 months periods
starting on 31st October.
Strategic Housing - Final Strategic Housing are supportive of the application. An
Response
email dated 5th February 2019 from the Planning
Consultant to the Case Officer for the application
confirms the application is now in full compliance of
affordable housing policy. The application provides for
30% affordable housing, providing for 14 affordable units.
The application also conforms with tenure requirements,
with the provision of 73% affordable rent (10 affordable
rented units) and 27% shared ownership (4 shared
ownership units).
We would like to see the affordable units dispersed
throughout the site and integrated with the market
housing to promote community cohesion & tenure
blindness. We would also expect the units to meet all
nationally described space standards. We expect the
affordable housing to be let in accordance with the
Council’s allocation scheme and enforced through an
agreed nominations agreement with the Council.
Strategic Housing are supportive of the application and
expect the affordable housing to be secured through a
S106 agreement.

Item 6
Flood Risk Management We have no objection to the proposed development and
consider that planning permission could be granted. Page 16
We have liaised with the applicants drainage consultant
over many months and we are happy with the surface
water drainage strategy submitted at this stage. Further
work will be required at the detailed design stage to
address specific concerns and we recommend a
condition for a detailed surface water drainage scheme
be attached to any permission.
Rights of Way - Final
Response

I should point out that the s.106 request or the provision
of the suggested new connecting route were alternatives,
either - or. I was asked to provide the estimated
calculation by the developer.
The requirement to consider public rights of way in this
development application will be satisfied by the
conditions previously requested. Basically these consist
of upgrading the existing footpath no. 9 on the east side
of the site, to provide a two-metre wide footpath in a four
metre green corridor, such that the right of way is not
encroached upon by any new planting or boundary
features or by growth from the existing hedge / trees on
the east side. The boundary features (new or existing)
are maintainable by the landowner, under the provisions
of the 1980 Highways Act, so must be maintained going
forward as part of a management plan for the estate.
Alternatively the land under the right of way should be
part of each plot sold on, so that future responsibility
for the boundaries is explicit.
The right of way should be surfaced in a non-bound,
porous, compacted and blinded well-drained material that
is suitable for wheelchairs and children's buggies as well
as walking, retained by gravel boards over a sub-base
and 'Terram' layer. The right of way should be offset from
the hedge / tree line (and can meander slightly within the
green corridor), to avoid encroachment from the existing
mature trees. New planting should be setback from the
edge of the walkable surface. The right of way should not
be hemmed-in behind close boarded fencing but should
be overlooked if possible to reduce anti-social behaviour,
and provision should be made to prevent car-parking etc.
on the right of way. The residents of the new properties
should be able to access the right of way. Any slopes /
gradients, should ideally be less than 1 in 20 and never
more than 1 in 14 in this type of location. The relationship
of the right of way to the development should be broadly
one of open-aspect. Care should be taken to ensure
visibility for path users at road crossing points and at the
junction of the public footpath with the footway of
Dunstable Road. A road-safety barrier or two staggered
barriers at the Dunstable Road end of footpath 9 are
acceptable; or anti-motorcycle bollards / features of
suitable construction, but the minimum gap for walkers

Item 6
etc. must be no less than 1.0 metres, around or between
the features installed. Gates or stiles across the rightPage
of 17
way are unacceptable as these can legally only be
licenced for livestock control.
The right of way must be protected and maintained, and
be available safely during the development process or if
required to be closed, a timely application for a temporary
Traffic Regulation Order made to myself using the form
on our website. A TTRO takes seven weeks to process
so application should be made between 7 and 12 weeks
before the requested commencement date. A temporary
alternative route should be provided if at all possible, if
the route has to be closed, which can be through the site
if construction is complete or can safely be segregated,
or on other highways.
Any plans produced, e.g. for application for the discharge
of reserved matters, must show the legal line of right of
way with:
* the design of the access (to include the agreed details
of width, surfacing,
boundary features, public safety features, bridges /
culverts etc., and landscaping).
* the TIMELY application to this council for temporary
closure and alternative route provision (where necessary)
of any existing public right of way during construction or
advance works (TTRO).
Waste Services

The Council’s waste collection pattern for Caddington is
as follows:
Week 1 – 1 x 240 litre residual waste wheelie
bin, 1 x 45l glass box
Week 2 – 1 x 240 litre recycling wheelie bin, 1
x 240 litre garden waste wheelie bin
Please note that bins are chargeable for all properties
and developers will be required to pay for all required
bins prior to discharging the relevant condition. Our
current costs for these are: £25 +VAT per 240l bin.
Wherever possible, refuse collection vehicles will only
use adopted highways. If an access road is to be used, it
must be to adoptable standards suitable for the refuse
vehicle to manoeuvre safely around site. Typically, until
roads are adopted, bins are to be brought to the highway
boundary or a pre-arranged point. If residents are
required to pull their bins to the highway, a hard standing
area needs to be provided for at least 2 wheelie bins per
property. However, householders should not be expected
to transport waste bins over a distance greater than 25m.
Bins must not encroach on or cause a hazard or
obstruction to the public highway. Waste vehicles will
reverse a maximum of 15m to the point of collection.

Item 6
If there are any flats as part of the development the
Page 18
following information applies. Communal waste provision
is allocated on the basis of 90l per week per waste
stream per property; therefore we would provide 1100
litre, 660 litre or 360 litre bins to be collected weekly.
These will be charged at £350 + VAT per 1100l / £250 +
VAT per 660l / £35 + VAT per 360l bin. Our waste
collection crew will move communal bins a maximum of
10m from the bin store to the waste collection vehicle,
providing there are suitable dropped kerbs.
Bin stores should be easily accessible from the main
highway and it is crucial that the store is secure with a
lock to prevent potential fly tipping issues. A lock code
will need to be provided to the Central Bedfordshire
Waste Services Team. The door used by the collection
crews will need to be wide enough to allow for easy
removal of bins from the storage area. A dropped kerb
will need to be provided to enable easy manoeuvrability,
access and egress of the bins. The crew are not
expected to move the bins over any undulating, non
paved, uneven surface, or where the gradient is deemed
excessive. Lighting within the bin store should be
provided so that the bins can be used safely by residents
when it is dark.
Environment Agency

No objection.
Flood Risk / Surface Water Drainage
Please consult the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).
Contamination
The site is located above a Principal Aquifer and within
Source Protection Zone (SPZ) 3. However, we do not
consider this proposal to be High Risk. Therefore, we will
not be providing detailed site-specific advice or
comments with regards to land contamination issues for
this site. The developer should address risks to controlled
waters from contamination at the site, following the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework
and the Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land
Contamination,
which
can
be
found
here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-a
nd-reducing-land-contamination
Infiltration Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
The water environment is potentially vulnerable and there
is an increased potential for pollution from inappropriately
located and/or designed infiltration (SuDS). We consider
any infiltration (SuDS) greater than 2.0 m below ground
level to be a deep system and are generally not
acceptable. If the use of deep bore soakaways is

Item 6
proposed, we would wish to be re-consulted. All
Page 19
infiltration SuDS require a minimum of 1.2 m clearance
between the base of infiltration SuDS and peak seasonal
groundwater levels. All need to meet the criteria in our
Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3)
position statements G1 to G13 which can be found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/groundwaterprotection. In addition, they must not be constructed in
ground affected by contamination.
The Environmental Permitting Regulations make it an
offence to cause or knowingly permit any discharge that
will result in the input of pollutants to surface waters or
groundwater.
Education Spending
Officer

The education spending officer has requested a
contribution of £532,305.22 to mitigate the impacts of the
development on local schools. It is suggested that the
contribution go towards the expansion of Caddington
Village Primary school and towards the expansion
Manshead Secondary school.

Community Halls
Spending Officer

The community halls spending officer has requested a
contribution of £77,239 towards community facilities, it is
suggested that the contribution be split between projects
for the local scout group and towards a new village hall.

Meeting the
Accommodation Needs
of Older People
(MANOP)

Demand
The proposed development falls within the Chiltern Vale
locality and the Caddington ward. Chiltern Vale has a
total population of 77,900 and 6,070 of these residents
are aged over 75 years. This is forecast to rise to 9,934
by 2030. Delivering accommodation suitable for older
people is therefore a priority for Central Bedfordshire
Council.
In 2013 the Caddington ward had 9,100 residents and
25% of its population was over 65 years old. For the
same area 14.5% of households consist of one person of
65 years of age and over and 12.3% of households have
more than one occupant, all of who are aged 65 and
over. In 2011 18.8% of the population in this ward were
retired, which is above average for Central Bedfordshire
(13.5%) and England (13.7%).
The number of older residents in this ward and the
predicted rise in the people over 65 in the Chiltern Vale
area demonstrates that there is likely to be demand for
mainstream housing that is specifically designed for older
people and for specialist accommodation for older
people, such as residential care homes and housing with
care and support available such as extra care
developments.

Item 6
If older people live in accommodation that does not meet
Page 20
their needs it can have an adverse impact on their health
and well-being. In 2011 in the ward of Caddington 7.0%
of residents stated that their day to day activities were
limited a lot due to a long term health condition or
disability and a further 9.9% of residents said they were
limited a little. This highlights the need to have more
accommodation available for older people that enables
them to live independently within the community.
It would therefore be beneficial that a proportion of the
dwellings proposed were designed to be suitable for
older people, taking into account their needs,
expectations and aspirations.
Design and layout
With good design, mainstream housing can be suitable
for older people at little or no additional cost to the
developer. Indeed where housing is designed to be
specifically for older people it may be acceptable to have
reduced provision in some aspects such as outdoor
amenity space.
Summary
Our view is that the needs of older people should be
considered as part of this proposal and, should the
proposal be acceptable in principle, we would support a
proportion of houses in the scheme being suitable for
older people.
Bedfordshire Fire and
Rescue Service

Although this should normally be dealt with at Building
Regulations consultation stage, I would like to draw the
developer’s attention to the requirements of Building
Regulations “Approved Document B (Fire Safety) Volume
1 - Dwellinghouses” or “Volume 2 – Buildings other than
dwellinghouses” as appropriate, particularly ‘B5 - Access
and Facilities for the Fire Service’, to ensure compliance
is met and specifically as below with respect to dwelling
houses: Vehicle access for a pump appliance to within 45m of
all points within a dwelling house;
 Turning facilities should be provided in any dead end
access route that is more than 20 m long. This can be by
a hammerhead or turning circle, designed on the
following table.
Vehicle Access Route Specification:-

Item 6
Page 21

Vehicle Access Route Specification:- Table 2 : Typical Vehicle Access Route Specification
(**Based on Bedfordshire FRS vehicles)
Appliance
Minimum
Minimum
Minimum
Minimum
Minimum
Minimum
Type
Width of
Width of
Turning
Turning
Clearance
Carrying
Road
Gateways
Circle
Circle
height (m)
Capacity
between
(m)
between
between
(tonne)**
Kerbs (m)
Kerbs (m)
Walls (m)
Pump
3.7
3.1
16.8
19.2
3.7
18.0
High Reach 3.7
3.1
26.0
29.0
4.0
26.0

If the criteria for fire appliance access to within 45 metres
as set out above cannot be reached for residential
premises, the Building Control and Fire Authority should
be consulted at an early stage, as alternative
arrangements may be acceptable. Typically, this is either
because the new site is landlocked or because the new
access is too narrow to get an appliance close enough.
The following options are available if access is within:45 - <60 metres - Domestic/residential sprinklers
required;
60 - 90 metres - Domestic/residential sprinklers and a fire
hydrant installed immediately by the access driveway;
Over 90 metres - Not acceptable
B. We would ask that fire hydrants are installed in
number and location at the developer’s cost as follows:On a residential site we will need one hydrant at least
every 180 metres – with no property further than 90
metres from the nearest hydrant. The minimum flow
should be as described in the National Guidance
Document published by UK Water and the Local
Government Association.
Other Representations:
Neighbours

10 representations making
representations objecting to
received:

comments and 6
the proposal were

- Proposed site access is on a bend with restricted
visibility.
- Need to ensure security of allotment site.
- Existing ditches, drains and main sewers currently
inadequate and regularly overloaded. On site flooding.
Flooding and significant damage to houses in our
community will be the result unless proper plans to
address these issues are put in place.
- Road safety concerns. Traffic calming measures
needed.
- Speed calming designs need to be adhered to.
- Major traffic disruption.
- Japanese Knotweed issue needs to be resolved
before any construction takes place.

Item 6
- Need to ensure construction process is properly
Page 22
managed.
- Loss of trees.
- Village infrastructure unable to cope.
- No need for further housing.
- Proposed two storey buildings out of character.
- Overdevelopment.
- No intention of Scouts to relocate.
- The safeguarding and security of children in the Scout
Hut needs to be guaranteed.
- Great Crested Newts need to be protected.
- Are roads and communal areas going to be adoptable
by CBC?
- Will the cost of the play area be ultimately charged to
the residents of Caddington.
- Who will maintain buffer zones?
Determining Issues:
The main considerations of the application are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

Principle of Development and Housing Mix
Affordable Housing Provision and Section 106 Requirements
Highway Considerations
Surface Water Impact
Layout and Design
Impact on Amenity of Neighbouring and Future Occupants
Impact on Trees
Rights of Way
Impact on Archaeology
Impact on Ecology
Other Considerations

Considerations:
1.
Principle of Development and Housing Mix
1.1 The application site is made up of broadly two parcels of land.
1.2 Parcel 1 (the eastern section of the site) is a 'white' land site in the village of
Caddington excluded from the Green Belt in the South Bedfordshire Local
Plan Review. It is allocated for residential development (Policy H1(19) Land
at Dunstable Road and Folly Lane) in the Local Plan. A total of 3.76 hectares
of land is allocated for 80 dwellings, which also includes a site of allotments
to the north east of the application site.
1.3 The supporting text in Policy H1(19) indicates that the 'site is suitable for a
medium density scheme' but that any development 'will need to incorporate
measures to limit the volume or rate of surface water discharge in order to
avoid exacerbating local flooding problems'. The matter of surface water
discharge is considered below.
1.4 The Proposed Indicative Masterplan (plan RD1668-GA-300) submitted shows
that all of the proposed housing development would be on the allocated
H1(19) land.

Item 6
1.5 It is also noted that the allocated land was previously the subject of an outline
Page 23
planning application for 50 dwellings (reference CB/10/03478/OUT) which the
development management committee resolved to approve in July 2012 but
this application remains undetermined as the S106 Agreement has not been
signed.
1.6 It is noted that the most recent Five Year Land Supply Statement for the five
year period commencing 1 January 2019 demonstrates a 5.71 years supply
of deliverable housing sites. The delivery of housing on the application site
would support the Council's ongoing housing land supply.
1.7 The mix of housing shown on the Indicative Masterplan is:
1 bed apartment
2 bed apartment
2 bed house
3 bed house
4 bed house
Total

2 units
3 units
17 units
16 units
9 units
47 units

1.8 This mix accords with Local Plan Policy H3 which requires development on
sites listed in Policy H1 or elsewhere within the built-up areas to have the
proportion of 1 or 2 bedroom dwellings to not be less than 33% of the total
dwelling provision.
1.9 Parcel 2 (the western section of the site) is in the Green Belt but is allocated
in the Local Plan as recreational land (Policy R8). The policy states this land
'is proposed as urban open space to meet the recreational needs of the
village (of Caddington) and residents of the new housing area'. A play area
of circa 400 sq m is proposed in this area. This would accord with Local Plan
Policy R10 which requires new residential developments of 20 to 49 houses
to have 340 sq m of play space.
1.10 The proposed development conforms with the allocations in Local Plan
Policies H1 and R8 for residential and recreational uses respectively, and is
therefore acceptable in principle. The proposed mix of housing accords with
Policy H3 and is also acceptable.
2.
Affordable Housing Provision and Section 106 Requirements
2.1 An Affordable Housing: Guidance Note for Central Bedfordshire (South Area)
was endorsed by Central Bedfordshire Council's Executive on 5 April 2016 as
interim guidance whilst the Central Bedfordshire Local Plan is being
prepared. This states a proposed target of 30% affordable housing on sites
of four dwellings and above. This has been superseded by the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which removed the requirement for
affordable housing on sites of 9 dwellings or less.
2.2 Initially a scheme was presented that provided 3 affordable units (6%). This
was supported by a Viability Assessment (Peter Brett Associates, December
2017).
Central Bedfordshire Council appointed Aspinall Verdi to
independently review the Viability Assessment. After a period of negotiation
of almost 10 months and the production of several reports / letters by Peter
Brett Associates and Aspinall Verdi, a position has been reached whereby a
policy compliant scheme of 30% (14 affordable units) has been agreed by the
applicant. The scheme also conforms with tenure requirements, with the

Item 6
provision of 73% affordable rent (10 units) and 27% shared ownership (4
Page 24
units).
2.3 In terms of S106 requirements, as detailed above a contribution of £45,000 is
required for off site highways works (traffic calming). In addition a contribution
of £532,305.22 has been agreed towards education (consisting of £45,108.53
towards early years provision, £210,506.94 towards primary school provision
and £276,689.65 towards secondary school provision), and a contribution of
£77,239.80 has been agreed towards community / village hall. In addition the
application includes the provision of an onsite play area and associated
management.
2.4 The S106 shall also require the provision, management and maintenance of
the play area.
2.5 Any planning permission granted therefore needs to be subject to the
completion and signing of a S106 Agreement requiring the provision of
affordable housing as outlined, off site highways works, and the play area.
3.
Highway Considerations
3.1 As stated above, this outline application seeks approval for the matter of
access. Highways (Development Management) are satisfied with the
proposed vehicular access to Dunstable Road located at the north eastern
end of the site.
3.2 There is an issue of excessive speed on Dunstable Road and considering the
general increase in activity the development would create there is merit in
promoting initiatives to lower this speed. In view of this traffic management
measures should be implemented. For the scheme proposed, a sum of
£45,000 is appropriate and will be secured by a S106 Agreement.
3.3 Overall, the proposal is acceptable in highway terms subject to conditions in
respect of details of the junction and the provision of visibility splays being
attached to any planning permission granted.
3.4 The requested condition in respect of visibility splays being provided at the
junction of the Scout Hut access shall not be attached as the Scout Hut and
its access are not in the application site.
4.
Surface Water Impact
4.1 Whilst the site is in Flood Zone 1 on the Environment Agency's flood plain
map which is described as having a 'low probability' of flooding, surface water
flooding has affected the local area.
4.2 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (Peter Brett Associates, October 2017) has
been submitted in support of the application which outlines an indicative
surface water management strategy for the proposed development with the
aim of reducing the amount of runoff entering the local ditch network and
reducing flood risk at a hotspot in Dunstable Road.
4.3 The CBC Flood Risk Management section are satisfied with this strategy and
have no objection to the proposal subject to a condition requiring a detailed
surface water drainage scheme for the site including a management and
maintenance plan to be attached to any planning permission granted.

Item 6
5.
Layout and Design
Page 25
5.1 The proposal needs to accord with South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review
Policy BE8 which requires development to complement and harmonise with
the local surroundings and should be considered in light of the guidance and
principles in the Central Bedfordshire Design Guide.
5.2 As appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved matters, a full
judgement on the layout and design of the proposal can only be made when
such an application is submitted.
5.3 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) extends close to
the north and west of the site. As stated in the Landscape consultation
response, the visual impact of development on views from the AONB,
especially during winter months and at night time, need to be mitigated. This
can be achieved by the provision of a woodland shelter belt within the R8
land part of the application site, adjacent to the west and north west
boundaries. The shelter belt needs to be entirely outside the rear gardens of
the proposed dwellings. Such an area, over 15m in width, is shown on
Proposed Indicative Masterplan (plan RD1668-GA-300). The detail of the
shelter belt will be required with the Reserved Matters application.
6.
Impact on Amenity of Neighbouring and Future Occupants
6.1 The proposal needs to accord with South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review
Policy BE8 which requires development to not have an unacceptable
adverse effect upon general or residential amenity and privacy, and Section
5 (Residential Development) of the Central Bedfordshire Design Guide.
6.2 Appearance, layout and scale are reserved matters. Therefore in the
absence of elevation and floor plans for the proposed dwellings, and not
having information on building height and window positions etc, a full
judgement of the impact of the proposal on the amenity of existing and future
neighbouring occupants can only be made when a reserved matters
application is submitted.
6.3 There is no existing residential development bordering the site. The
occupants of the dwellings on the opposite (south east) side of Dunstable
Road are unlikely to be affected in terms of matters such as loss of light, loss
of privacy, or overbearing impact. Similarly the pair of semi detached
dwellings (Nos. 80 and 82 Dunstable Road) are too distant (in excess of
80m) from the H1(19) part of the application site proposed for residential
development to be adversely affected.
6.4 The Proposed Indicative Masterplan (plan RD1668-GA-300) suggests that
private amenity space for the proposed dwellings accords with the
requirements of the Design Guide. Also a substantial area of communal
outdoor space would be provided in the R8 recreational land part of the site.
6.5 A condition should be attached to any planning permission granted requiring
details of noise attenuation measures to protect future occupants from noise
generated by outdoor activities at the Scout Hut.
7.
Impact on Trees
7.1 The initial consultation response of Trees and Landscape raised an objection
in respect of the loss of 'Category 'B' trees. Following this an Addendum to
the Arbroricultural Implications Report (SJA Trees, September 2018) was
submitted.

Item 6
Page 26
7.2 This Addendum enabled the Trees and Landscape section to accept there is
no alternative in respect of the loss of the five Category 'B' oak trees and
they therefore withdrew their objection subject to conditions to ensure tree
protection and landscape planting being attached to any planning permission
granted.
8.
Rights of Way
8.1 A public footpath FP9 runs just inside the north east boundary of the site.
The Proposed Indicative Masterplan (plan RD1668-GA-300) shows this
footpath to be retained.
8.2 The consultation response of Rights of Way suggests improvements to the
public footpath to provide a 2 metre wide surfaced path with a clear minimum
4 metre wide landscape buffer/green corridor to avoid the path becoming
narrow and enclosed, by property fencing or existing or new planting. This
can be achieved by a condition attached to any planning permission granted.
9.
9.1

Impact on Archaeology
The site lies within a known prehistoric archaeological landscape that
includes sites and of local and national importance (HER 16065, HER 2036
& HER 605). Previous archaeological trial trenching of the site, as reported
in the Archaeological Evaluation (Foundations Archaeology, 13 April 2010)
submitted in support of the application, has demonstrated that there are
few surviving below ground archaeological features at this location. As
such the archaeological potential of this particular area is considered to be
low and consequently there is no archaeological constraint to the
development of the site.

10. Impact on Ecology
10.1 The proposal includes an area of new habitats of value to wildlife within the
R8 land in the western section of the site. These measures in addition to
the retention of boundary trees and hedgerows, and green corridors
through the site, should deliver a net gain for biodiversity. To ensure
mitigation and enhancement measures are achieved a condition requiring
a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) should be attached
to any planning permission granted.
11. Other Considerations
11.1 Response to Parish Council and Neighbour objections
Most of the matters raised are considered in the discussion above.
The Parish Council state that they do not want another park, and that they
own three already and are struggling to fund equipment for them. They also
raise concerns in respect of the maintenance and running costs. In
response, and as stated above, there is a requirement in Local Plan Policy
R10 for new residential developments to provide play space. As mentioned
above, the S106 Agreement shall require the provision, management and
maintenance of the play area.
The Parish Council raise a concern that the Proposed Indicative Masterplan
(plan RD1668-GA-300) appears to include an entrance to the play area in
the R8 land coming straight onto Dunstable Road carriageway. In response,
it is acknowledged that the plan shows a gap in the hedge; however, this is
not intended to be an entrance. As layout is not a matter for consideration

Item 6
at outline stage, the layout should be updated with any subsequent reserved
Page 27
matters application to show this 'entrance' omitted.
11.2 Human Rights and Equality Act Issues
Based on information submitted there are no known issues raised in the
context of Human Rights / The Equalities Act 2010 and as such there would
be no relevant implications.
Recommendation:
That Planning Permission be GRANTED subject to the signing of a S106 agreement
and the following planning conditions:
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS
1

No development shall take place until approval of the details of the
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the development (herein
called “the reserved matters”) has been obtained in writing from the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To comply with Part 3 Article 6 of the Town and Country Planning
(General Development Procedure) Order 2015.

2

Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the
Local Planning Authority within three years from the date of this permission.
The development shall begin not later than two years from the final approval
of the reserved matters or, if approved on different dates, the final approval
of the last such matter to be approved.
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

3

No above ground construction of the development hereby approved
shall take place until samples of all external materials to be used have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The development shall thereafter be constructed in
accordance with the approved samples.
Reason: To control the appearance of the development in the interests
of the visual amenities of the locality.
(Section 12, NPPF and Policy BE8, SBLPR)

4

No above ground construction of the development hereby approved
shall take place until details of the junction between the proposed
access road and Dunstable Road (the highway) have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and no
dwelling shall be occupied until that junction has been constructed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to
users of the highway and of the proposed estate road.
(Section 9, NPPF)

5

Item 6
Visibility splays shall be provided at the junction of the access with the public
Page 28
highway before the development is brought into use. The minimum
dimensions to provide the required splay lines shall be 2.4m measured
along the centre line of the proposed access from its junction with the
channel of the public highway and 56m measured from the centre line of the
proposed access along the line of the channel of the public highway. The
required vision splays shall, on land in the applicant’s control, be kept free of
any obstruction.
Reason: To provide adequate visibility between the existing highway and the
proposed access and to make the access safe and convenient for the traffic
that is likely to use it.
(Section 9, NPPF)

6

Visibility splays shall be provided at all road junctions within the site. The
minimum dimensions to provide the required splay lines shall be 2.4m
measured along the centre line of the side road from its junction with the
channel to the through road and 25m measured from the centre line of the
side road along the channel of the through road. The vision splays required
shall be provided and defined on the site by or on behalf of the developers
and be entirely free of any obstruction.
Reason: To provide adequate visibility at road junctions in the interest of
road safety.
(Section 9, NPPF)

7

No construction of the development hereby approved shall take place
until a scheme detailing provision for on-site parking for construction
workers for the duration of the construction period has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be implemented throughout the construction period.
Reason: To ensure adequate off street parking during construction in
the interests of road safety.
(Section 9, NPPF)

8

Prior to and during construction of the development hereby approved, all site
supervision, tree protection requirements and special construction
operations, as set out in Appendix 2 "Protection of Retained Trees" of the
Arboricultural Implications Report dated July 2017, (Ref. SJA air 17160-01a)
and the revised "Tree Protection Plan" (Drawing No. SJA TPP 17 160-01b
Revision B), which forms Appendix Add06 of the Arboricultural Implications
Report - Addendum, dated September 2018, as prepared by SJA Trees,
shall be fully implemented. The protective fencing and ground protection
shall then remain securely in position throughout the entire course of
development works.
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees from all
development activity, in the interests of securing their health, stability,
amenity and ecological value.
(Section 15, NPPF)

9

No above ground construction of the development hereby approved
shall take place until a landscaping scheme to include all hard and soft
landscaping and a scheme for landscape maintenance for a period of
five years following the implementation of the landscaping scheme
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning

Item 6
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of
Page 29
the full planting season immediately following the completion and/or
first use of any separate part of the development (a full planting season
means the period from October to March). The trees, shrubs and grass
shall subsequently be maintained in accordance with the approved
landscape maintenance scheme and any which die or are destroyed
during this period shall be replaced during the next planting season.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of landscaping.
(Sections 12 & 15, NPPF)
10

No above ground construction of the development hereby approved
shall take place until a landscape and ecological management plan
(LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the
following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan
capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation
of the plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding
mechanism by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be
secured by the developer with the management body responsible for
its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from
monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP
are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be
identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still
delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally
approved scheme.
The approved plan will be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure ecological mitigation and enhancement measures
are achieved.
(Section 15, NPPF)

11

No above ground construction of the development hereby approved shall
take place until a scheme of noise attenuation measures has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This
shall ensure that internal noise levels from outdoor activities at the
neighbouring Scout Hut and other external noise sources including road
traffic do not exceed 35 dB LAeq, 07:00 – 23:00 in any habitable room or 30
dB LAeq 23:00 – 07:00 and 45 dB LAmax 23:00-07:00 (based on the 10th
highest measured LAmax level) inside any bedroom, and that external noise
levels from external road traffic noise sources shall not exceed 55 dB LAeq,
(16hr) in outdoor amenity areas. Any works which form part of the scheme
approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be completed and the
effectiveness of the scheme shall be demonstrated through validation noise
monitoring, with the results reported to the Local Planning Authority in writing

Item 6
before any permitted dwelling is occupied, unless an alternative period is
Page 30
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of any future occupants.
(Section 15, NPPF and Policy BE8, SBLPR)
12

No construction of the development hereby approved shall take place
until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall
follow the recommendations in the previously submitted BRD
Environmental Ltd report dated October 2017 (Ref: BRD1718-OR6-A).
The remediation strategy shall include an options appraisal giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken. The strategy shall include a plan providing details of how
the remediation works shall be judged to be complete and
arrangements for contingency action.
Reason: To protect human health and the environment.
(Section 15, NPPF)

13

Prior to any permitted dwelling being occupied a validation report shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate the effectiveness of any agreed Remediation Strategy. Any
such validation shall include responses to any unexpected contamination
discovered during works.
Reason: To protect human health and the environment.
(Section 15, NPPF)

14

The development shall be designed to the following standards:
- 10% regulated energy demand to be secured from renewable or low
carbon sources;
- all dwellings should achieve water efficiency standard of 110 litres per
person per day; and
- all dwellings to be designed to avoid or minimise risk of overheating.
Reason: To ensure management of the site in an environmentally
considerate manner.
(Section 2, NPPF and Policy BE8, SBLPR)

15

No construction of the development hereby approved shall take place
until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site including a
management and maintenance plan has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
design shall be based on sustainable drainage principles in
accordance with the Council's Sustainable Drainage SPD and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the
development. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details and shall be managed and maintained thereafter
in accordance with the agreed management and maintenance plan.
Reason: To ensure the approved system will function to a satisfactory
minimum standard of operation and maintenance.

Item 6
Page 31
No above ground construction of the development hereby approved
shall take place until a scheme for the provision of public footpath no.
9, Caddington has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. This shall include:
(Section 14, NPPF)

16

·
·
·

the design of access and public footpath no.9 (to include details of
width, surfacing and landscaping);
proposals for the diversion of public footpath no. 9 and other public
rights of way (where necessary); and
the temporary closure and alternative route provision (where
necessary) of public footpath no. 9 or another existing public right
of way during construction or advance works.

The public rights of way scheme submitted should be in accordance
with Central Bedfordshire Council's approved Rights of Way Standards
and Guidance.
Reasons: In the interests of the amenity of pedestrians and other non
motorised users to ensure safety of users is not compromised by the
traffic associated with the development.
(Sections 8 & 9, NPPF)
17

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers
RD1668-SA-100,
RD1668-SA-101,
RD1668-SA-002,
39449/5501/04 Revision C and 39449/5501/05 Revision A.
Reason: To identify the approved plans and to avoid doubt.

18

The development hereby approved shall not exceed a maximum total of 47
dwellings.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in order to ensure that the
development does not result in an overdevelopment of the site and to
protect the character and appearance of the area (Chapter 12 NPPF, BE8
SBLPR).

INFORMATIVE NOTES TO APPLICANT
1.

In accordance with Article 35 (1) of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the reason
for any condition above relates to the Policies as referred to in the South
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (SBLPR) and the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).

2.

This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country
Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any
other enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or
approval which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate
authority.

3.

The applicant is advised that no works associated with the construction of
the vehicular access should be carried out within the confines of the public
highway without prior consent, in writing, of the Central Bedfordshire

Item 6
Council. Upon receipt of this Notice of Planning Approval, the applicant is
Page 32
advised to write to Central Bedfordshire Council’s Highway Help Desk,
Technology House, 239 Ampthill Road, Bedford MK42 9BD quoting the
Planning Application number and supplying a copy of the Decision Notice
and a copy of the approved plan. This will enable the necessary consent
and procedures under Section 184 of the Highways Act to be implemented.
The applicant is also advised that if any of the works associated with the
construction of the vehicular access affects or requires the removal and/or
the relocation of any equipment, apparatus or structures (e.g. street name
plates, bus stop signs or shelters, statutory authority equipment etc.) then
the applicant will be required to bear the cost of such removal or alteration.
4.

The applicant is advised that in order to comply with Condition 4 of this
permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an
agreement with Central Bedfordshire Council as Highway Authority under
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion
of the access and associated road improvements. Further details can be
obtained from the Highways Development Control Section,
Central
Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ.

5.

The applicant is advised that the requirements of the New Roads and Street
Works Act 1991 will apply to any works undertaken within the limits of the
existing public highway. Further details can be obtained from the Traffic
Management Group Highways and Transport Division, Central Bedfordshire
Council, Technology House, 239 Ampthill Road, Bedford MK42 9BD.

6.

The applicant is advised to ensure that the definitive legal line of any public
right of way is mapped at the earliest opportunity and that no development
should take place on or near a public right of way unless the necessary
statutory legal process (where necessary) has been completed in
accordance with:1. An order made, confirmed and certified under the provisions of Section
257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. An order made, confirmed and certified under the provisions of the
Highways Act 1980.
3. An order made under any other relevant legislation concerning the
modification, creation, diversion or extinguishment of a right of way.
Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 - Part 6, Article 35

The applicant and the Council engaged in discussion and negotiation at pre-application and
application stages which led to improvements to the scheme. The applicant and the Council
have therefore acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of development in line with
the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
DECISION
......................................................................................................................................
......................................................................................................................................

n
Sig
al
n
Ga

Item 7
Page 1

L Twr
L Twr

Sports Pavilion

L Twr

L Twr
L Twr

L Twr
82

Tennis Courts

ac
k

Pav

Tr

84

1
17

23

26

90

56
52

35

Allotment Gardens

AY

OS

E

32

27

W

CL

32

KL
ET
ON

RY
DE
R

HA
C

8
13
50

11

40
4

9

14

46

13
7

7

2
13

D

OO
TW

IVE
DR

1

AS
1a
13

2

6
11

34

10

5
10

4
10

0
13

El
Sub Sta

0

11

1
12

6

2
12

149

146

53

3
10

145

43
9
10

7
10

1
13

0
12
1
11

8
12

74

67

96

1
10

93

75

73

55

0
10

97

5

76

12

92

99

5

72
70

77

91
90

83
22

84

81
78

88

82

8

89

98

69

67

W

AY

9

85

80

26

65
77

50

1

M

35

ILL

3

W

17

RI
G

Club

28

HT

27

62

81

55

31
32

13

Valley Farm

36

L Twr

74.3m

39

47

L Twr

40
c

CO

b

43

RM

a

FA

40

ON

40

5

L Twr

El Sub Sta

40

L Twr

Sports Court

42

MM

L Twr

LA

NE
44

L Twr
W

2

56

a

Sports Centre
4

77.0m

56

M
Gr ove
a
ee
nh ble
ou
se

73
58

75

a

ST
EP

77

62

PIN

GL
E

YR

68

OA

D

91

80.1m
78

92

95
78
a

MIL

AB
B

IS

CL

OS
E

78

LAR
DS

CLOSE

27

88

78

b

99

c

80

1

78

1

23
76

82.1m

a

3

3

76

32

64

El
b
Su

a

a
St

1

2

60

8

22

KE
A

D

AD
RO
R

OA

16

CASE NO.
CH

AU

CE

Application No.
CB/19/00041/REG3
1

E Date: 08:April:2019

W

58

82.5m

2

TS
R

4

12

2

6

6

84.4m

Map Sheet No

8

4

S

16

2

1

1

96

Former Flitwick Leisure Centre, Steppingley Road, Flitwick
28

87

ck

Tra

93

BLU

EBE

CLO

SE

LC

LO
SE

77

LL

EL

88

AY
RW

TCB

MA
NO

38

35

10

D

OA

ES
CR

UE
B

LB

76

SR

KEN

DIC

ON

BYR

BL

83

13

CE

2

12

84

87.2m
NT

11

64

Scale: 1:2500

94

H

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

9

N

10

Tk

tr y

L Twr
L Twr

Su El
bS

D
IN

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 7
Page 3
APPLICATION NUMBER
LOCATION
PROPOSAL

CB/19/00041/REG3
Former Flitwick Leisure Centre Steppingley Road
Flitwick
Application for Outline planning permission with
all matters reserved for the construction of 37
residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 95 extra care
housing apartments (Use Class C3) and registered
residential care home consisting of 70 bedrooms
(Use Class C2), with associated communal
facilities and ancillary uses including hair salon;
shop; cafe; health; and fitness uses.
Flitwick
Flitwick
Cllrs Mrs Chapman, Gomm & Turner
Benjamin Tracy
03 January 2019
04 April 2019
Central Bedfordshire Council
Hamson Barron Smith

PARISH
WARD
WARD COUNCILLORS
CASE OFFICER
DATE REGISTERED
EXPIRY DATE
APPLICANT
AGENT
REASON FOR
COMMITTEE TO
DETERMINE

The Council own the freehold of the site and
objections have been received.

RECOMMENDED
DECISION

Outline Application - Recommended for Approval

Reason for Recommendation
The site is located within the settlement envelope of Flitwick and upon previously
developed land, whereby the principle of the proposed development is supported.
The proposed development has been considered against the development plan
policies and the three objectives of sustainability, which are the social,
environmental and economic objectives, to determine whether the development
would be sustainable and the benefits would outweigh any identified negative
impacts.
The benefits of development include the provision of specialist accommodation to
positively contribute towards the Councils housing need whilst providing temporary
jobs during construction and providing employment generating uses. It is
considered that the latter benefits would outweigh any harm identified.
For their reasons outlined within this report, the application is recommended for
approval subject to conditions.
Site Location:
The site is located on previously developed land to the northeast of Steppingley
Road, Flitwick. To the northwest of the site is the new Flitwick leisure centre and car
parking area; to the north east of the site are residential dwellings known as Nos. 52
- 68 Millwright Way; and to the southeast of the site are the neighbouring

Item 7
residential dwellings known as Nos. 4 and 5 Common Farm Lane, No. 92
Page 4
Steppingley Road and Nos. 76-82 Windmill Road.
To the Southwest of the site is Steppingley Road and open agricultural land
beyond. It is noted that the agricultural field immediately to the southwest of the site
forms an allocation within the Emerging Local Plan for residential development
under Policy HA1.
The Application:
The applications seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
construction of 37 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 95 extra care housing
apartments (Use Class C3) and registered residential care home consisting of 70
bedrooms (Use Class C2), with associated communal facilities and ancillary uses
including hair salon; shop; cafe; health; and fitness uses.
Access to the site would be taken from Steppingley Road.
The indicative plans indicate a large Care Home and Extra Care Facility at the
frontage of the site as well as a block of flats at the site frontage. The remainder of
the site is indicated for bungalow style dwellings, open space, drainage and car
parking.
RELEVANT POLICIES:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies - North 2009
CS1 – Development Strategy
CS2 - Developer Contributions
CS3: Healthy and Sustainable Communities
CS4: Linking Communities – Accessibility and Transport
CS5: Providing Homes
CS7: Affordable Housing Provision
CS13: Climate Change
CS14: High Quality Design
CS16: Landscape & Woodland
CS17: Green Infrastructure
CS18: Biodiversity
DM1: Renewable Energy
DM2: Sustainable Construction of New Buildings
DM3: High Quality Design
DM4: Development Within and Beyond Settlement Envelopes
DM9: Providing a range of Transport
DM10: Housing Mix
DM14: Landscape and Woodland
DM15: Biodiversity
DM16: Green Infrastructure
Central Bedfordshire Local Plan - Emerging
The Central Bedfordshire Local Plan has reached submission stage and was
submitted to the Secretary of State on 30 April 2018.

Item 7
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 48) stipulates that from the
day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policiesPage
in 5
emerging plans unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The apportionment of this weight is subject to:
·
·
·

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan;
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies;
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework.

Reference should be made to the Central Bedfordshire Submission Local Plan
which should be given limited weight having regard to the above. The following
policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:
SP1, SP2, SP7, H1, H2, H3, H4, T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, EE1, EE2, EE3, EE4, EE5,
EE6, EE13, CC1, CC3, CC5, CC6, HQ1, HQ2, HQ3, HQ4, and HQ5.
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Other Documents
Central Bedfordshire Design Guide (March 2014)
Central Bedfordshire Landscape Character Assessment (January 2015)
Relevant Planning History:
None relevant
Consultees:
Flitwick Town Council

Flitwick Town Council Support (Unanimous)

Highway Authority

The Highway Authority have issued no objection to the
application subject to conditions to ensure:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

acceptable site access and visibility splays;
acceptable internal access and visibility splays;
acceptable cycle and car parking;
refuse collection vehicle turning areas;
estate roads and footpaths would accord with the
Council's Standards;
upgrades to bus stop facilities (shelters and additional
footway to serve the westbound bus stop); and
the provision of a puffin crossing to cater for
westbound bus services.

Strategic Transport

The Council's Strategic Transport Team have raised no
objection to the application subject to a condition to
ensure a residential Travel Plan is provided and
implemented.

Waste Services

The Council's Waste Services Team have raised no
objection to the application subject to design guide
compliance of refuse collection and storage areas.

Bedfordshire Fire and
Rescue Service

The Bedfordshire Fire and Rescue Service have raised
no objection subject to compliance with Building
Regulations.

Item 7
Page 6

Lead Flood Authority

The Lead Flood Authority have raised no objection
subject conditions relating to surface water drainage and
management.

Environment Agency

The Environment Agency have raised no objection to the
application.

Bedfordshire and River
Ivel Internal Drainage
Board

The Bedfordshire and River Ivel Internal Drainage Board
have issued the following consultation response:
"Please note the Board has no comments to make
regarding this planning application".

Anglian Water

Anglian Water have confirmed:
· the development is in the catchment of Flitwick Water
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for
these flows;
· the sewerage system at present has available
capacity for these flows; and
· a public server is shown on record plans within the
land identified for the proposed development. It is
recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian
Water for further advice on this matter.
Anglian Water have recommended a condition for the
submission of a phasing plan for the development.

Public Protection

The Council's Pollution Team have raised no objection
subject to conditions to ensure noise impacts are
assessed and can be mitigated as well as acceptable
details are provided for extraction, odour control and
discharge from commercial cooking operations.
An informative note is requested for contamination.

Trees and Landscaping

The Council's Arboriculturalist has raised no objection to
the application subject to conditions requiring the
submission of details of any works within the root
protection area of trees to be retained, replacement tree
planting and the submission of a Tree Protection Plan
and Method Statement based on final layout proposals,
this will include details of position of tree protection
fencing and ground protection, areas where hard
surfacing or foundations encroach into root protection
areas and position of services, drainage and soakaways
in relation to root protection areas.

Ecology

The Council's Ecologist has raised no objection to the
application subject to a condition to secure an Ecological
Enhancements.

Sustainable Growth and
Climate Change

The Council's Sustainable Growth and Climate Change
Officer has raised no objection to the application subject
to conditions to ensure:
· The development is to source at least 10% of its

·
·
·

Item 7
energy demand from renewable or low carbon
Page 7
sources;
All dwellings are to achieve the higher water efficiency
standard of 110 litres per person per day;
Climate change adaptation strategy is agreed with the
council to ensure that dwellings and appropriate
measures are implemented to minimise overheating;
Care home is to achieve at least BREEAM very good
standard for water and energy".

Public Art

The Council's Public Art Officer has requested a
condition for the provision of public art.

Leisure and Open
Space

The Council's Leisure Team have raised no objection to
the proposed development subject to financial
contributions and conditions to secure infrastructure to
support needs arising from the development.

Bedfordshire Police
Architectural Liaison
Officer

The Bedfordshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer has
raised concerns in relation to fear of crime and designing
out crime.

Archaeology

The Council's Archaeologist has issued the following
consultation response:
"The application area lies does not contain any known
archaeological sites or features although there is
evidence of post-medieval quarrying (HER 5971) within
the boundary of the site. In addition, an archaeological
evaluation on the land immediately adjacent in 2013
suggested that the area had undergone a series of
possible quarrying and levelling activities during the
modern period (Albion Archaeology, 2013). On this basis
the archaeological potential of this area is currently
considered to be low. Consequently, there would be no
archaeological constraint on this development should it
receive planning consent".

Strategic Housing

The Council's Housing Officer has issued the following
consultation response:
Strategic Housing support this application as it provides
for 48 affordable homes which provides for 36.4%
affordable housing, complying with current affordable
housing
policy
requirements.
The
supporting
documentation indicates the proposal for the provision of
71% affordable rent and 29% intermediate tenure,
equating to 34 affordable rented units and 14 units of
intermediate tenure. The proposed tenure being
acceptable.
Affordable housing requirement of 36.4% on all units
other than those designated as dementia care, with
dementia care categorised as use C2 whereby there are
restrictions preventing affordable provision. Affordable
housing provision will be sought on 132 dwellings.

Item 7
Strategic Housing propose the application provides for
Page 8
36.4% affordable housing from the 37 residential units
equating to 14 affordable within the residential units and
36.4% provision form the 95 bed care home equating to
34 affordable units. This ensures an appropriate mix of
affordable housing split between the residential dwellings
and care home dwellings.
Outlined below is a suggested mix for the affordable
housing. Whilst a suggested mix has been provided by
Strategic Housing, Strategic Housing would welcome
discussions with the applicant on the eventual affordable
housing mix to ensure the mix is reflective of current
needs, in particular around the mix and type of affordable
rented units.
Residential dwellings affordable mix (36.4% of 37
residential dwellings; 14 affordable)
Affordable rent: 10 dwellings (71%)
Intermediate Tenure: 4 dwellings (29%)
Care Home dwellings affordable mix (36.4% of 95 Care
Home dwellings; 34 affordable)
Affordable rent: 24 dwellings (71%)
Intermediate Tenure: 10 dwellings (29%)
It is noted the residential bungalows will be designed to
Category 3 for accessibility and the residential flats built
to Category 3 wheelchair accessible. This will help to
meet the requirements of those in affordable housing
need through the provision of more specialist unit types.
The need for which is reflected in the Emerging Local
Plan whereby the Emerging Plan outlines the need for
more Category 3 dwellings coming forward. This form of
provision is much welcomed by Strategic Housing.
We would like to see the affordable units dispersed
throughout the site and integrated with the market
housing to promote community cohesion & tenure
blindness. We expect the affordable housing to be let in
accordance with the Council’s allocation scheme and
enforced through an agreed nominations agreement with
the Council. Strategic Housing are supportive of the
application and welcome discussion surrounding the
eventual affordable mix.
Adult Social Care
MANOP

The Council's Adult Social Care Team have expressed
support for the application.

Community Facilities

No response received.

Education

Based on the development being restricted in occupation
to persons over the age of 55 or those with disabilities,
no contribution towards education infrastructure is
sought.

Bedfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group

Item 7
No response received, members will be updated in the
Page 9
late sheet.

Community Facilities

No response received, members will be updated in the
late sheet.

Strategic Landscaping

No objection following the submission of a Landscape
and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). If an application is
progressed to reserved matters stage, then the following
points should be considered:
·

·
·

Visually reconstructing roof lines and elevations
employing different levels and angles, materials which
are recessive in terms of colour, a mix of arrangement
of materials, including recesses in elevations which
enables intermittent shadows.
Panels of green / living walls to elevations orientated
on to residential development and allotments.
Additional treed landscape mitigation around
development edges and through development to aid
visual mitigation and landscape enhancement.

Other Representations:
Neighbours

Eight representations received five of which object to the
proposal and one of which is supportive. The matters
raised within the representations received have been
summarised as:
· Consideration to car parking for the two bedroom
bungalows for wheel chair users needs to be given.
· Consideration of wheelchair users needs to be given
to the design of the properties;
· Insufficient car parking - each resident will require
parking for themselves and the carers. At least two
spaces per residence.
· the facility will require access to medical facilities, both
Flitwick and Ampthill surgeries are full;
· a new doctors surgery should be undertaken before
building this facility;
· Traffic management within Flitwick needs to be
addressed - area around the site and area around
Tesco gridlocked;
· Pavements up to the tons facilities will need to be
made safe for older people to use to access shops.
· Excellent concept to address a growing need in
Flitwick;
· The opportunity for the provision of another doctors
surgery within Flitwick is being missed, the over 55s
bungalows should be replaced with a doctors surgery;
· the site should provide a new supermarket;
· object to three storey flats next to a bungalow;
· Loss of light to No. 5 Common Farm Lane;
· No step free access at Flitwick Railway Station and;
· the site is away from amenities.

Considerations

Item 7
Page 10

1.
1.1

Principle
The proposal consists of residential development within use Classes C3 and
C2 residential development with associated communal facilities and ancillary
uses as well as associated development.

1.2

The development falls with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended).
However the application has been screened and it has been determined that
the proposal would not likely have a significant effect on the environment and
therefore would not require an Environmental Impact Assessment.

1.3

The site is located within the settlement envelope of Flitwick. Policy CS1 of the
adopted Development Plan defines Flitwick as a Major Service Centre for the
purposes of the Development Plan. Policy DM4 permits development within
settlement envelopes commensurate with the scale of a settlement taking into
account the role of identified settlements within the Development Plan area.

1.4

It is considered that the proposed development would be in accordance with
Policy DM4, which states: "Within the settlement envelopes of both major and
minor service centres, the Council will approve housing, employment and other
settlement related development commensurate with the scale of the
settlement, taking account of its role as a local service centre".

1.5

The site in question remains within the settlement envelope of Flitwick, in the
Emerging Local Plan. The Settlement hierarchy within the Emerging Plan
defines Flitwick as a Major Service Centre for the purposes of the Emerging
Plan and Policy SP7 of that plan states: "With Settlement Envelopes of both
Major and Minor Service Centres, the Council will support housing,
employment and other settlement related development proportionate to the
scale of the settlement, taking account of its role as a local service centre".

1.6

It is considered that Policies CS1, DM4 and SP7 are supportive of the principle
of the proposed development.

1.7

According to the Proposal Maps, the site forms Open Space, Sports and
Recreation in the context of Policies CS3 and DM17 of the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies (2009). However this map indicates the
former use of the site as a Leisure Centre. A leisure centre in Flitwick has now
been provided on the neighbouring site, whereby it is considered that Policies
CS3 and DM7, as well as the requirements within Policies EE13 and HQ4 of
the Emerging Local Plan and the NPPF for reprovision has been satisfied.
Therefore no conflict with these policies has been found.

1.8

Paragraph 84 of the NPPF states: "the use of previously development land,
and sites that are physically well-related to existing settlements should be
encouraged where suitable opportunities exist". It is considered that the site
forms previously development land and is well-related to the existing
settlement.

1.9

Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states: "Planning decisions should promote an
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy
living conditions".

Item 7
Page 11
1.10 It is considered that the re-use of previous developed land to meet identified
specialist housing needs is supported by paragraph 117 of the NPPF.
1.11 For the reasons outlined within this response it is considered that the
development in principle would be in accordance with Policies DM4, CS3 and
DM7 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009);
Policies and SP7, EE13 and HQ4 of the Emerging Local Plan; as well as the
NPPF.
2.
2.1

Impact upon the amenity and living conditions of neighbouring occupiers
The application is for outline planning permission for all matters reserved,
whereby matters relating to scale and layout are reserved.

2.2

Concern has been raised in relation to the impact of the proposed development
upon the amenity and living conditions of neighbouring properties in the context
of loss of light, outlook, privacy and overbearing impacts. It is considered that
the proposed development could be designed to ensure that such impacts
would not amount to unacceptable impacts in the context of Policy DM3 of the
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009).

2.3

The proposed development includes a number of ancillary commercial
activities which could generate noise and smells. Having regard to the
comments from the Pollution Officer, it is considered necessary relevant and
reasonable to impose a condition that would require the submission of relevant
information at a reserved matters stage to ensure that these commercial uses
would not cause harm to the amenity of existing and future occupiers of
neighbouring dwellings.

2.4

For the reasons outlined above it is considered that subject to conditions that
the proposed development would not cause harm to the amenity or the living
conditions of any neighbouring dwelling, in accordance with Policy DM3 of the
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3.
3.1

The amenity and living conditions of future occupiers
This application forms an outline planning application with all matters reserved,
whereby the detail of the development would be subject to a reserved matters
application.

3.2

It is noted that the amenity spaces of dwellinghouses on the illustrative
drawings do not appear to meet the Council's Design Guide Standards for
private gardens. However, it is considered that due to proposed provision to
meet the accommodation needs of persons over the age of 55 that the gardens
would be usable, manageable and would provide an acceptable standard of
amenity for the intended occupiers. Therefore subject to conditions to restrict
the proposed dwellings to those aged over 55 it is considered that the
proposed dwellinghouses would be acceptable within this context.

3.3

It is noted that three of the dwellings upon the illustrative layout may not feature
an acceptable area of private amenity space either due to the absence of a
private garden, communal garden or the private garden area being considered
to be unusable. However, the drawings provided are indicative only and it is
considered that with an amendment to the layout and/or housing mix, this could
be addressed at the reserved matters stage. As such Officers are satisfied that
from the information provided that the proposed quantum of dwellings to meet

Item 7
the needs for older persons and a residential care home could be constructed
Page 12
within the site, whilst provide an acceptable standard of amenity for future
occupiers.
3.4

Concern has been raised in relation to the lack of consideration in relation to
Crime Prevention through design in the illustrative layout. However it is
considered that the application is outline only and that such matters would be
subject to consideration at the reserved matters stage.

3.5

For the reasons outlined above it is considered that the proposed development
would accord with Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies; Policies HQ1 and H2 of the Emerging Local Plan; and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

4.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area, including the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside
The site is located on previously developed land to the west of Steppingley
Road, Flitwick. To the northwest of the site is the new Flitwick leisure centre
and car parking area and to the Southwest of the site is Steppingley Road and
open agricultural land beyond. It is noted that the agricultural field immediately
to the southwest of the site forms an allocation within the Emerging Local Plan.

4.1

4.2

The site falls within the Mid Greensand Ridge Landscape Character Area,
which features a contrast of arable land and densely wooded areas and creates
contrasting perspectives from open and exposed to enclosed and sheltered.
The views from public footpaths to the west of the site feature exposed views
across the agricultural landscape towards the site. Such views are screened to
some degree during the summer months by mature trees along Steppingley
Road, however such views towards the site may be exposed in winter months.

4.3

It is indicated on illustrated drawings to retain existing frontage trees, which is
supported. However the application is for outline planning permission with all
matters reserved, whereby matters relating to landscaping, scale, appearance
and layout are reserved.

4.4

A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been submitted as part of the
application. This document has been considered by the Landscape Officer,
who has not raised an objection to the application. The Landscape Officer has
highlighted several points for consideration, however these will be relevant for
reserved matters stages.

4.5

Due to the probable scale of the proposed care home building, and the
openness provided by the leisure centre car park, the large scale building
illustrated upon the submission would be visually prominent, not only from the
wider landscape but from the north and south along Steppingley Road. A
building of such a scale and visual prominence will form a key landmark
building and will need to be of a high quality design. Notwithstanding the above,
the principle of a high quality landmark building is supported in this location,
which shall be secured at the reserved matters stage. The design of the
building will need careful consideration at reserved matters stage.

4.6

It is considered that subject to the proposed development being of a high
quality design with suitable landscaping, in this edge of countryside location, it
is considered that the proposed development would not cause harm to the
character and appearance of the area. It is considered that any adverse harm
would be outweighed by the benefits of the proposed scheme.

4.7

Item 7
For the reasons outlined above it is considered that, subject to conditions, Page
that 13
the proposed development would be acceptable within the context of the built
and natural environment. Furthermore; it is considered that a high quality
development would not cause harm to the character and appearance of the
area more generally. The proposal would conform with Policies DM3, DM14,
CS14 and CS16 of the Core Strategy for the North of Central Bedfordshire;
Policies HQ1, EE4 and EE5 of the Submission Central Bedfordshire Local
Plan; the Central Bedfordshire Design Guide; and the NPPF.

5.
5.1

Trees, Hedgerows, Biodiversity, Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital
The site does contain existing trees, which have the potential to be affected by
development of the site, it is considered necessary, relevant and reasonable to
impose a condition that would ensure that the layout agreed at reserved
matters stage would seek to retain trees in accordance with the submitted
details and replace any trees lost.

5.2

The application has been accompanied by an Ecological survey and the
Council's Ecologist has raised no objection subject to a condition that would
require a Ecological Enhancement Strategy to ensure the proposal can achieve
net gains in biodiversity.

5.3

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF outlines that planning should "contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural
capital and ecosystem services - including the economic and other benefits of
the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland".

5.4

The site consists of previously developed land with some greenfield land and
trees. The natural capital and ecosystem services that the site currently
provides are acknowledged. However, it is considered that the benefits of
development, including the provision of specialist accommodation to positively
contribute towards the Councils housing need whilst providing temporary jobs
during construction and providing employment generating uses would outweigh
any negative impacts within this context. Furthermore, the development would
support local services/ facilities and would be required at reserved matters
stage to provide an appropriate landscaping scheme as well as a biodiversity
enhancement scheme to mitigate the identified impacts in the context of
landscaping, ecology, natural capital and ecosystem services. Therefore it is
considered that development could deliver a net gain for biodiversity and would
be acceptable in this wider context.

5.5

For the reasons outlined above it is considered that the proposed development,
subject to conditions that would secure an acceptable landscaping scheme and
biodiversity enhancements that would ensure a net gain for biodiversity would
be acceptable in the context of policies CS18, DM3, DM14 and DM15 of the
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) and policies
EE2, EE4 and EE5 of the Submission Central Bedfordshire Local Plan, as well
as the policies within the NPPF, in this context.

6.
6.1

Car Parking, Highway Safety and Sustainable Modes of Transport
This application forms an outline planning application with all matters reserved,
whereby the detail of access and on site car parking will be required to be
approved at the reserved matters stage.

6.2

Item 7
Concern has been raised in relation to highway safety and capacity by
Page 14
neighbours, however no objection has been received from the Highway
Authority. The Highway Authority have confirmed that access to the site can be
achieved. The development will not therefore result in a severe impact and is
acceptable in terms of access and highway safety.

6.3

It is considered necessary to impose a condition relating to a travel plan,
construction management plans and the provision of connections for ultra and
low emissions vehicles.

6.4

Subject to conditions it is considered that the proposed development would be
acceptable in the context of Car Parking, Sustainable modes of transport,
Highway Safety and highway capacity, in accordance with Policy DM3 of the
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) and Policies T1,
T2, T3, T4 and T5 of the Emerging Local Plan, as well as the policies within the
NPPF, in that context.

7.
7.1

Pollution
Although the site is considered to form previously developed land, the Council
is unaware of any potentially contaminative past use. As such it is not
considered necessary to impose a condition relating to the investigation or
remediation of contamination.

7.2

The proposed development includes the construction of a large building and
associated business uses. The proposed commercial uses and the installation
of fixed plant and/or machinery associated with the development may emit
noise. It is considered necessary, relevant and reasonable to impose conditions
to ensure that the noise generated would be mitigated to not cause harm to the
amenity of any existing or future residential occupiers.

7.3

For the reasons outlined above it is considered that subject to conditions it is
considered that the proposed development would be acceptable within the
context of pollution.

8.
8.1

Surface Water and Foul Drainage
Anglian Water has confirmed that the existing sewerage network and treatment
works have/ will have available capacity to serve the needs of the proposed
development. It is therefore not considered necessary to impose a condition in
relation to Foul Drainage or phasing of a development of this scale.

8.2

The Lead Flood Authority, the Environment Agency and the Internal Drainage
Board have raised no objection to the proposed development, subject to a
conditions that would ensure suitable surface water drainage is provided to
serve the site and maintained.

8.3

For the reasons outlined above subject to conditions it is considered that the
proposed development would be acceptable within this context, in accordance
with Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009); Policies CC3, CC5 and CC6 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the
NPPF.

9.
9.1

Sustainable Design and Climate Change
Policies DM1, DM2 and CS13 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2009) and Policy CC1 of the Emerging Local Plan, seek
to reduce the energy and water supply demand of developments, in the context
of sustainable design, climate change and water shortage.

9.2

Item 7
It is considered necessary, relevant and reasonable to impose a condition Page
that 15
would ensure that 10% of the energy demand from the development is met by
renewable of low carbon sources, in accordance with Policy DM1 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) and Policy CC1 of the
Emerging Local Plan.

9.3

Policies CS13 and CC1 requires that all developments to be designed with
climate change in mind taking account of increase in rainfall and temperature.
It is considered necessary, relevant and reasonable to impose a condition to
ensure a Climate Change Adaption Strategy is submitted at reserved matter
stage to demonstrate the design measures incorporated to minimise
overheating.

9.4

Policy DM2 requires developments to achieve a higher water efficiency
standard of 110 litres per person per day to mitigate against potential water
shortages. It is considered necessary, relevant and reasonable to impose a
condition that would ensure that the latter is achieved.

9.5

For the reasons outlined above, subject to conditions it is considered that the
proposed development would be acceptable within the context of Policies DM1,
DM2 and CS13 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009) and Policy CC1 of the Emerging Local Plan, as well as the NPPF.

10. Archaeology
10.1 Having regard to the advice from the Council's Archaeologist the
archaeological potential of the application site is currently considered to be
low. Consequently, there would be no archaeological constraint on this
development and requirement for archaeological excavation. There will
therefore be no harmful impact on heritage assets of archaeological
significance.
11.
11.1

Public Art
In the context of Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies and Policy HQ7 of the Emerging Local Plan, when
considering the scale of the proposed development, as well as its character
and location, it is considered necessary to impose a condition that would
ensure the provision of Public Art as part of development.

12.
12.1

Affordable Housing, Accessible Homes and Self/Custom Build
Affordable Housing

12.2

The Council's requirement for affordable housing applies to all C3 units
(excluding C2 units due to restrictions preventing affordable provision).
Thereby the proposed development would be required to provide a total of 48
affordable homes which provides for 36.4% affordable housing, in
accordance with Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2009). The supporting documentation indicates the
proposal for the provision of 71% affordable rent and 29% intermediate
tenure, equating to 34 affordable rented units and 14 units of intermediate
tenure, which is considered to accord with Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy
and Development Management Policies (2009).

12.3

Strategic Housing have propose the application provides 14 affordable units
restricted to persons over 55 years of age and 34 affordable extra care units.
This ensures an appropriate mix of affordable housing split between the

Item 7
dwellings restricted to persons over 55 years of age and the extra-care units,
Page 16
as well as ensuring compliance with the Council's requirements in the context
of clustering and housing mix under Policies CS4 and DM10 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009).
12.4

Accessible Homes

12.5

The proposed development includes the provision 37 dwellings, which are to
be designed to meet the requirements of Category M4(3) of the Building
Regulations (wheelchair accessible housing). It is considered that Category
M4(3) homes form an identified need within the Council's Strategic Housing
Market Assessment (2017) and meeting this need forms a benefit of the
proposed development, weighing in the schemes favour. It is considered
necessary, relevant and reasonable to impose a condition that would ensure
that any proposed Category M4(3) homes are secured.

12.6

External Space Standards and Occupational Restrictions

12.7

The proposed development includes the provision of single level dwellings
designed to meet the needs of persons aged 55 or over. The indicative layout
has not demonstrated that the number of dwellings can be achieved whilst
meeting the Council's external space standards applicable to standard
housing stock. However it is considered that manageable gardens can be
achieved which would be appropriate for those aged 55 or over or those with
disabilities. The Council's SHMA identifies the need of accommodation to
meet the needs of these persons.

12.8

It is considered that subject to a condition that would restrict the occupation of
these dwellings to those aged 55 or over or those with disabilities that the
proposed dwellings would be of an appropriate design and would provide an
appropriate standard of living for the intended occupiers. Infrastructure
contributions would be reflective of this restriction.

12.9

Self and Custom Build

12.10 The Council's Self and Custom Build Officer has requested the provision of at
least four serviced plots for self and custom build dwellings to meet identified
needs. However when considering the nature of the scheme, which has been
designed to meet a range of specialist and specific housing needs for older
persons, it is not considered necessary to require the provision of self and
custom build plots, in this instance.
13.
13.1

Infrastructure Provision and Contributions
It is not clear from the information available or discussions with the applicant
whether or not the site will be developed by the Council or sold off in full or
partially to a private developer to build out. Whilst the applicant (CB) cannot
enter into a S106 legal agreement with itself, it is nonetheless important that
appropriate mitigation measures are secured and put in place to offset the
impact of the development on existing infrastructure. Officers recommend
that a planning condition is included within any grant of planning permission
which requires the applicant to set out a strategy to address infrastructure
requirements. The planning condition will also require that any private
developer (i.e. not the applicant, CBC) who purchases part or whole of the
site and builds out part or all of the development, to enter into a legal
agreement pursuant to S106 of the Act to provide financial contributions
relating to these matters.

13.2

Item 7
Page 17
Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009) states that developers are required to make contributions as
necessary to offset the cost of providing new physical, social, community and
environmental infrastructure.

13.3

Policy CS2 is considered to be in accordance with Paragraph 56 of the
NPPF which states: Planning obligations must only be sought where they
meet all of the following tests:
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

13.4

These tests are also set out by Regulation 122(2) of the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).

13.5

The Leisure Officer has indicated that the following necessary, relevant and
reasonable contributions are required to meet the sports needs arising from
the development, if on-site provision is not provided. The following sports
project has been identified (based on costs and values at the date of the
consultation response):
·
·

Indoor Sport: £116,970.00 towards reconfiguring the fitness suite at
Flitwick Leisure Centre; and
Outdoor Sport: £47,029.00 towards improvement works at Flitwick Cricket
Club, including redevelopment of the pavilion.

13.6

The Leisure Officer has also indicated the requirement for the provision of on
site open space which shall be secured by condition. Due to the nature of the
proposed dwellings it is considered that contributions towards Children's Play
is not necessary.

13.7

The Education Authority have requested no infrastructure contribution from
the development subject to the proposed dwellings being restricted in
occupation to those aged 55 or over or those with disabilities.

13.8

The NHS and Community Officer have been consulted on this application
and have been chased for a response. However, at the time of writing no
representation has been received. If a representation is received prior to the
Development Management Committee, the Committee shall be updated
through the late sheet. However in the absence of a representation, there is
no evidence provided by the statutory body responsible for healthcare and
Community Facilities to suggest that the existing or planned capacity of
facilities is unable to accommodate the growth arising from this development
and no necessary, relevant or reasonable contribution towards an
infrastructure project has been identified that would comply with the
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.

13.9

The Committee are advised that the Council will be unable to enter into a
S106 agreement with itself and as such contributions may need to be
secured by other means. It is considered necessary to impose a condition
that would ensure that in the event the Council sell the land for development
that a S106 agreement will be required with any future landowner. The detail
of such a condition will be included on the late sheet.

14.
14.1

Item 7
Human Rights and Equality Act issues
Page 18
Based on information submitted there are no known issues raised in the
context of Human Rights / The Equalities Act 2010 and as such there
would be no relevant implications.

15.
15.1

Conclusion
The site is located within the settlement envelope of Flitwick and upon
previously developed land, whereby the principle of the proposed development
is supported.

15.2

The benefits of development include the provision of specialist accommodation
to positively contribute towards the Councils housing need whilst providing
temporary jobs during construction and providing employment generating
uses. It is considered that the latter benefits would outweigh any harm
identified.

15.3

For the reasons outlined within this report, the development is considered to
be sustainable and no harm has been identified that would outweigh the
benefits of the development. The application is recommended for approval
subject to conditions.

Recommendation:
That Outline Planning Permission be GRANTED subject to the following Conditions:
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS
1

Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale,
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any development
begins and the development shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

3

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than two years from
the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

4

The number of dwellings approved shall not exceed 37 residential dwellings
(Use Class C3), 95 extra care housing apartments (Use Class C3) and a 70
bedroom residential care home (Use Class C2).
Reason: To appropriately manage the scale of the development at the site,
in accordance with Policies CS14, DM3 and DM4 of the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies 2009.

5

Item 7
Any subsequent reserved matters application submitted under Condition 2Page
of 19
this permission shall accord with the "Conclusions" within the Report titled:
"Arboricultural Report & Tree Constraints Plan 2018-04(10)" and shall
include the submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement (conforming
to BS 5837) and Tree Protection Plan, detailing methods to be undertaken
to protect retained trees during construction, as well as details and methods
for construction activities within close proximity to any retained trees. The
development and works shall be carried out in full accordance with the
approved Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan. All tree
works shall be carried out in accordance with BS 3998 Recommendations
for Tree Work (2010) (as amended).
Reason: To ensure the protection of retained trees, in accordance with
Policies CS16, DM14, DM15 and DM3 of the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies (2009); Policy EE4 of the Emerging
Local Plan; and the NPPF.

6

The landscaping details required to be submitted by Condition 2 of this
permission shall include a soft landscaping scheme to include replacement
tree and hedgerow planting. The landscaping shall be carried out as
approved.
Reason: To ensure the replacement of trees and hedgerows lost as a result
of development, in accordance with Policies CS16, DM14, DM15 and DM3
of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009); Policy
EE4 and EE5 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

7

The first reserved matters application shall include an Open Space Scheme
with a minimum of 0.576ha of Public Open Space including Large Formal
Recreation Areas and Small Amenity Spaces. The scheme shall include
details of the location, layout, size, proposed planting, location and
specification of boundary structures, furniture and materials. The
development shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable provision of public open space within the
site and to ensure the replacement of trees and hedgerows lost as a result
of development, in accordance with Policies CS16, DM14, DM15, DM17 and
DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009);
Policy EE4, EE5 and EE13 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

8

No building hereby approved shall be first occupied or first brought into use
until a Soft Landscaping and Open Space Management and Maintenance
Plan, to include timescales/triggers for implementation and completion of all
Soft Landscaping areas has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The Soft Landscaping and Open Spaces shall
be completed in accordance with the approved timescales/triggers and shall
thereafter be maintained and managed in accordance with the approved
Soft Landscaping and Open Space Management and Maintenance Plan.
Reason: To ensure the implementation and completion of public open space
and soft landscaping, as well as to ensure the provision of appropriate
management and maintenance of public open space, in accordance with
Policy DM17 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009); Policy EE13, EE8, EE2, of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

9

Item 7
Any application for the approval of reserved matters except any application
Page 20
that relates solely to access shall include details of the existing and final
ground, ridge and slab levels of the buildings. The details shall include
sections through both the site and the adjoining properties and the proposal
shall be developed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that an acceptable relationship results between the new
development and adjacent buildings and public areas, in accordance with
Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009); Policy HQ1 of the Emerging Local Plan and the NPPF.

10

No development shall commence until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme, to manage surface water run off from the
development for up to and including the 1 in 100 year event (+40%CC)
for the scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The discharge rate from the development will
be limited to the equivalent 1 in 1 year rate, or an appropriate rate as
agreed by the Bedford Group of Internal Drainage Boards or sewage
undertaker. The final detailed design shall be based on the agreed
Drainage Strategy (Ref:L2190, P1 November 2018), and DEFRAs
Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems
(March, 2018), and shall be implemented as approved. Any variation to
the connections and controls indicated on the approved details which
may be necessary at the time of construction would require the
resubmission of those details to the Local Planning Authority for
approval.
Reason: To ensure the approved system will function to a satisfactory
minimum standard of operation and maintenance and prevent the
increased risk of flooding both on and off site, in accordance with para
103 of the NPPF.

11

No building/dwelling shall be occupied until the developer has formally
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority a finalised ‘Maintenance
and Management Plan’ for the entire surface water drainage system,
inclusive of any adoption arrangements and/or private ownership or
responsibilities, and that the approved surface water drainage scheme has
been correctly and fully installed as per the final approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the implementation and long term operation of a
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) is in line with what has been approved,
in accordance with Written Statement HCWS161.

12

The first reserved matters application submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and any subsequent reserved matters application for the approval
of details including access to the site shall include details of the junction of a
vehicular access to the site with the public highway and the visibility splays
to be provided at the junction of the access with the public highway. No
building hereby approved shall be first occupied or first brought into use until
the access to the site has been constructed in accordance with the approved
access details and the visibility splays have been provided free of any
obstruction to visibility. Thereafter the visibility splays shall for the perpetuity
of the development remain free of any obstruction to visibility.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the
highway and premises, as well as to ensure the provision of adequate

Item 7
visibility between the existing highway and the proposed access, to make
Page 21
the access safe and convenient for the traffic which is likely to use it.
13

Any application under condition 2 for the approval of layout and/or
landscaping shall include a hard surfacing phasing plan with triggers or
timescales for the surfacing and completion of all roads, footways,
cycleways and car parks within the site. Thereafter the development shall be
completed in accordance with the approved phasing plan.
Reason: To ensure that the development of the site is completed to provide
adequate and appropriate highway arrangements at all times and to secure
high quality development, in accordance with Policy DM3 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009); Policy T1 and T2
of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

14

Subsequent applications under condition 2 for the approval of layout, scale
or landscaping shall include cycle parking to serve the employment
generating uses hereby approved in accordance with the Central
Bedfordshire Design Guide (September 2014) or the Council’s standards
applicable at the time of submission. Each building hereby permitted shall
not be first occupied or brought into use until the cycle parking spaces to
serve that building as indicated on the approved drawings have been
provided in accordance with the approved details. Thereafter the cycle
parking spaces serving the employment generating uses shall be kept
available for cycle parking at all times.
Reason: to promote sustainable modes of transport, in accordance with
Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009); Policies T1 and T3 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

15

No dwelling shall be first occupied until a scheme for the upgrade of bus
stop facilities (shelters and additional footway to serve the westbound bus
stop) in the vicinity of the development entrance has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include the re-siting of any Statutory Undertakers equipment or street
furniture to provide an unobstructed footway to the crossing. Thereafter no
dwelling shall be first occupied until the scheme has been completed in full
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of road safety and pedestrian movement, in
accordance with Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2009); Policy T1, T2 and T4 of the Emerging Local
Plan; and the NPPF.

16

No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme for a Puffin crossing to cater
for westbound bus services along Steppingley Road has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include the re-siting of any Statutory Undertakers equipment or street
furniture to provide an unobstructed footway to the crossing. Thereafter no
dwelling shall be first occupied until the scheme has been completed in full
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of road safety and pedestrian movement, in
accordance with Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2009); Policy T1 and T2 of the Emerging Local Plan;
and the NPPF.

17

Item 7
The development shall not be first occupied until a full residential travel plan
Page 22
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, such a Travel
Plan to include details of:
· Predicted travel to and from the site and targets to reduce car use
· Details of existing and proposed transport links, to include links to
both pedestrian, cycle and public transport networks
· Proposals and measures to minimise private car use and facilitate
walking, cycling and use of public transport
· Timetable for implementation of measures designed to promote travel
choice
· Plans for monitoring and review, annually for a period of 5 years, at
which time the obligation will be reviewed by the planning authority
· Details of the provision of cycle parking in accordance with Council
guidelines
· Details of marketing and publicity for sustainable modes of transport
to include site specific welcome packs. Welcome packs to include;
· Walking, cycling, public transport and rights of way information.
Site specific travel and transport information
· Travel vouchers
· Details of relevant pedestrian, cycle and public transport routes
to/ from and within the site
· Copies of relevant bus and rail timetables
· Details of the appointment of a Travel Plan Co-ordinator
No part of the development shall be occupied prior to implementation of
those parts identified in the Travel Plan [or implementation of those parts
identified in the Travel Plan as capable of being implemented prior to
occupation]. Those parts of the approved Travel Plan that are identified
therein as being capable of implementation after occupation shall be
implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall
continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is
occupied.
Reason: to promote sustainable modes of transport, in accordance with
Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009); Policies T1 and T4 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

18

As part of any reserved matters application a scheme for the provision of
spaces and electric charging connection points to serve the development
shall be submitted for the approval by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include a timescale for implementation. The approved scheme
shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved.
Reason: The need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging
plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles, in accordance with Policy T5
of the Emerging Local Plan and Paragraph 105 of the NPPF.

19

No development shall take place until an ecological enhancement
strategy (EES) for the creation of new wildlife features such as
hibernacula, the erection of bird/bat and bee boxes in
buildings/structures and tree, hedgerow, shrub and wildflower
planting/establishment has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The content of the method statement
shall be informed by an up to date Ecological Appraisal of the site and
include the:
a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works;

Item 7
b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve
Page 23
stated objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of
materials to be used);
c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale
maps and plans;
d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned
with the proposed phasing of construction;
e) persons responsible for implementing the works;
The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved
details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter
Reason: Details required prior to the commencement of development
to ensure development is ecologically sensitive and secures
biodiversity enhancements that are integrated into the development in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.
20

Any application under condition 2 for the approval of layout, scale and
appearance shall include a Climate Change Adaptation Strategy detailing
measures taken to minimise overheating of buildings, as well as details to
demonstrate:
· all dwellings would achieve the requirement to source 10% of energy
demand from renewable or low carbon sources;
· all dwellings would achieve the higher water efficiency standard of 110
litres per person per day; and
· that the Care home building would achieve at least BREEAM very good
standard for water and energy.
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure the development is resilient and adaptable to the
impacts arising from climate change in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2
and CS13 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009) and Policy CC1 of the Emerging Local Plan, as well as the NPPF.

21

No Building hereby approved shall be first occupied or first brought into use
until a Public Art Plan is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Public Art Plan shall include:
· the Brief for involvement of artists, site context, background to
development, suitable themes and opportunities for Public Art
· Method of commissioning artists / artisans;
· details of community engagement;
· details of the art commissioned;
· location and siting of public art;
· implementation and completion timescales/ phasing; and
· Maintenance and Management Plan.
The Public Art Plan and the Public Art shall be implemented and Completed
in full and as approved details and shall be maintained in accordance with
the approved Maintenance and Management Plan.
Reason: To enhance the public realm, promote local distinctiveness and to
secure high quality development, in accordance with Policy DM3 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009); Policy HQ7 of the
Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

22

Item 7
Any subsequent reserved matters application submitted under Condition 2 of
Page 24
this permission, other than that which solely relate to access, shall include
the submission of a Noise Impact Assessment, to assess the noise from
road traffic and exiting/ proposed commercial noise sources (including any
fixed plant and/or machinery) and the impact of noise on existing and the
proposed sound sensitive premises. Where shown to be necessary by the
Noise Impact Assessment any subsequent reserved matters application
submitted under Condition 2 of this permission, other than that which solely
relate to access, shall include the submission of a scheme of measures for
protecting the existing and proposed sound sensitive premises from road
and/or commercial noise sources. Thereafter each sound sensitive premises
or commercial unit shall not be first occupied or first brought into use until
the approved scheme of measures to protect that premises or neighbouring
premises from noise has been implemented in accordance with the
approved details, and shown to be effective. Thereafter the approved
measures for protecting sound sensitive premises shall be retained in
perpetuity.
Reason: to safeguard the amenity and living conditions of existing and future
occupiers of dwellings and sound sensitive uses, in accordance with Policy
DM3 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009);
Policies HQ1 and CC8 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

23

No building containing commercial premises or a residential institution
hereby approved shall be first brought into use until, a scheme containing
full details of arrangements for internal air extraction, odour control, and
discharge to the atmosphere from commercial cooking operations, including
and external ducting and flues, shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The works detailed in the approved scheme
shall be installed in their entirety before the building is first brought into use.
The equipment shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the
manufacturer's instructions and operated at all times when cooking is being
carried out.
Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and uses in the
context of odour control, in accordance with Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy
and Development Management Policies (2009); Policies HQ1 and CC8 of
the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

24

Any subsequent application under Condition 2 of this permission for the
approval of layout, scale or appearance, shall include a plan indicating the
Category of each dwelling in the context of requirements of M4(1), M4(2)
and M4(3) of Schedule 1 to the Building regulations 2010 (Approved
Document M), including sub categories of those requirements (or any
amendment or replacement to those Regulations applicable at the time).
The development shall be completed in full accordance with the approved
details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To secure the delivery of optional requirements for accessible
homes to meet identified needs, in accordance with Policy DM10 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009); Policies H1, H2
and H3 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

25

Any subsequent reserved matters application shall include a plan identifying
37 residential dwellings to be restricted to the occupation by at least one
person:
a) aged 55 or older, and/or persons with a physical or mental impairment

Item 7
that has a substantial and long-term negative effect on their ability to do
normal daily activities (definition of disability under the Equality Act 2010);Page
or 25
b) a widow or widower of such a person or persons.
Thereafter the identified 37 residential dwellings shall be occupied by at
least one person so described, unless otherwise approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To meet the accommodation needs of older persons and those
with disabilities as defined by the Equality Act 2010, in accordance with the
NPPF.
26

Development shall not commence until a scheme for the provision of
affordable housing as part of the development has been approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable housing shall be provided in
accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of
affordable housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework or
any future national policy that replaces it. The scheme shall include:
i) The number, type and location on the site of the affordable housing
provision to be made which shall consist of not less than 35% of dwelling
units including extra care units;
ii) The tenure shall be split 71% affordable rented and 29% intermediate
tenure;
iii) The timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing
in relation to the occupancy of the market housing including extra care
units;
iv) The arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an
affordable housing provider or the management of the affordable housing
if no Registered Housing Provider is involved;
v) Details on the arrangements to ensure that the provision is affordable for
both the initial and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and
vi) The occupancy criteria used for determining the identity of occupiers of
the affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria
shall be enforced.
Reason: Details are required prior to the commencement of development to
ensure the policy compliant provision of affordable homes to meet identified
needs, in accordance with Policies CS4 and DM10 of the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies (2009) and the NPPF.

27

No development shall take place until a mitigation scheme for the
delivery of infrastructure projects to meet the additional demand
arising from the development or in the event of Council Land Transfer
of any part of the site to a developer a Section 106 agreement has been
entered into to secure financial contributions towards outdoor sports
and indoor sports infrastructure projects, in the form of the draft
attached hereto. The mitigation scheme shall include timescales/
triggers for completion. Thereafter the mitigation scheme shall be
implemented and completed in full accordance with the approved
details and in accordance with the approved timescales/ triggers.
Reason: To secure appropriate contributions towards the social and
community infrastructure needs of the local community, in accordance
with the NPPF.

28

Item 7
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
Page 26
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers: 23-27-18-1-1002 001.
Reason: To identify the approved plans and to avoid doubt.

INFORMATIVE NOTES TO APPLICANT
1.

This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country
Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any
other enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or
approval which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate
authority.

2.

The applicant is advised that while the Council has no reason to believe this
site is contaminated, and is not aware of any potentially contaminative past
use, it is the developer's responsibility to ensure that final ground conditions
are fit for the end use of the site. If during any site investigation, excavation,
engineering or construction works evidence of land contamination is
identified, the applicant shall notify the Local Planning Authority without
delay. Any land contamination identified shall be remediated to the
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the site is made
suitable for its end use.

3.

The applicant is advised that in order to comply with Highway Conditions of
this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into
an agreement with Central Bedfordshire Council as Highway Authority under
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion
of the access and associated road improvements. You are advised to
contact the Highways Agreements Officer, Community Services, Central
Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ. E-mail highwaysagreements@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
The applicant is also advised that if any of the works associated with the
construction of the vehicular access affects or requires the removal and/or
the relocation of any equipment, apparatus or structures (e.g. street name
plates, bus stop signs or shelters, statutory authority equipment etc.) then
the applicant will be required to bear the cost of such removal or alteration.

4.

The applicant is advised that all car parking to be provided within the site
shall be designed in accordance with the Central Bedfordshire Design Guide
2014.

5.

The applicant is advised that all cycle parking to be provided within the site
shall be designed in accordance with the Central Bedfordshire Council’s
“Cycle Parking Annexes – July 2010.

6.

A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land identified for the
proposed development. Anglian Water have indicated that the development
proposals would appear to affect existing public sewers. It is recommended
that the applicant contacts Anglian Water Development Services Team for
further advice on this matter.

Item 7
Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Page 27
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 - Part 6, Article 35
The Council acted pro-actively through early engagement with the applicant at the
pre-application stage which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore
acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of development in line with the requirements
of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
DECISION
......................................................................................................................................
......................................................................................................................................

This page is intentionally left blank

205

215

Item 8
Page 1

193

28.7m

28.1m
LB
142

144

140

150

Pond

Broadv
Moveable
Greenhouses

Tank

N

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)
E Date: 08:April:2019

W

CASE NO.
Application No.
CB/19/00045/FULL

Map Sheet No
S
Scale: 1:1250

140 Biggleswade Road, Uppder Caldecote, Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ

Woodlands Nu

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 8
Page 3
APPLICATION NUMBER
LOCATION

PARISH
WARD
WARD COUNCILLORS
CASE OFFICER
DATE REGISTERED
EXPIRY DATE
APPLICANT
AGENT
REASON FOR
COMMITTEE TO
DETERMINE

CB/19/00045/FULL
140 Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote,
Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ
Application for the erection of 8 bungalows with
access, parking, landscaping and all ancillary
works.
Northill
Northill
Cllr Mr Firth
James Clements
17 January 2019
14 March 2019
Maple Ridge Homes Ltd
Oakwood Design
Major planning application - Departure from the
Development Plan - objections from the Parish
Council

RECOMMENDED
DECISION

Full Application - Recommended for Approval

PROPOSAL

Reason for Recommendation
The proposed development would be contrary to Policy DM4 of the Core Strategy
and Development Management Policies (2009). This policy is not attributed full
weight and as such would not justify the refusal of planning permission on its own.
The proposed development would deliver an additional 8 dwellings. It is
recommended that the benefits of the development would outweigh the
non-compliance with this policy. Other up-to-date Local Policies and the Policies
within the NPPF have been considered.
For the reasons outlined within this report, the development is considered to be
sustainable and no significant harm has been identified. It is considered that the
benefits of the development would outweigh the conflict Policy DM4 of the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009).
Site Location:
The application site measures approximately 0.5ha in size and is rectangular in
shape, located on the southern side of Biggleswade Road on the eastern edge of
Upper Caldecote. The site is relatively flat gently falling away to the south.
The site shares a common boundary to the west with a public footpath and a parcel
of arable land that separates the site from the main built up part of Upper
Caldecote. To the south and east the site is bound by Woodlands Nursery, which is
a 25ha site used for a mixture of horticultural use, storage and distribution use with
ancillary offices, hardstandings and associated buildings. The shared northern
boundary is with the highway beyond which on the opposite side of the road are a
number of dwellings.
The north and west boundaries are characterised by native hedging and trees. The
southern boundary has a row of mature leylandii trees. The east boundary with the

Item 8
nursery is characterised by a mix of native hedging and close-boarded fencing. The
Page 4
central part of the site has recently been cleared.
The site contains an existing two-storey detached dwelling set back approximately
11m from Biggleswade Road, with a number of outbuildings to the rear within the
site.
The vehicular access to the site is taken from Biggleswade Road. Public Right of
Way (PROW) 9 (Northill) runs adjacent to the western boundary from Biggleswade
Road in a southerly direction where it joins PROW 7 (Northill), which runs through
the Woodlands Nursery site.
The site is outside of a settlement envelope and is therefore within the open
countryside. The nearest settlement envelope is Upper Caldecote's approximately
150m to the west of the site. There are no listed buildings or other heritage assets
within the vicinity of the site. The site is not, or close to, a statutory wildlife site.
The site is within Flood Zone 1. Flood maps identify the central part of the site as
being within an area with a 1 in 1000 year surface water flood risk. Mains water and
sewerage is within the vicinity of the site along Biggleswade Road.
The landscape character of the area is 4B Lower Ivel Clay Valley.
The Application:
The application proposes the construction of 8 chalet/dormer style bungalows on
land to the rear of the existing dwelling, 140 Biggleswade Road. The existing
dwelling is to be retained as part of the development. A new access and spine road
from Biggleswade Road is proposed to serve the development.
The proposed bungalows with first floors in the roof space would be detached and
with the exception of plot 7, which faces northwards, would face westwards towards
the public footpath. Private amenity space is shown to the rear of the properties.
Parking provision would be to the front or side of the plots on the basis of two per
dwelling. Three visitor parking spaces are shown adjacent to plots 2 & 3 on the
opposite side of the spine road. Bin storage and cycle storage is shown to the rear
of the properties with the exception of plots 7 & 8 where the bin store is shown to
the rear of the parking areas.
Plots 3,4,6,7 & 8 would be 3-bed, have integral garages, with approximately
140sqm of internal space, measuring up to approximately 12.5m in width, 10.5m in
depth, 3m to eaves and 7m to ridge height. Plots 1,2 & 5 would be two-bed (with
large study that could potentially be used as a bedroom) with an internal area of
approximately 96sqm, measuring up to approximately 17m in width and 20.5m in
depth, 3m to eaves and 7m to ridge height.
The proposed bungalows would be constructed in facing brickwork,
weatherboarding and render with UPVC windows and doors. Each dwelling with the
exception of plot 8 would have a rear dormer, as well as roof lights on the front and
rear roof slopes. Plot 8 would have a front dormer. The rear of the properties would
have flat-roofed elements which would form part of the kitchen/diners. The front
elevations would have projecting pitched-roof elements that would form part of the
dining rooms.
Landscaping is proposed within the site as shown on the submitted landscaping
plans. The plots would be defined by timber knee rail fencing and reinforced by
ornamental hedge and shrub planting. The private paths would be off-white
coloured concrete flag stones. The private drives would be 'rustic' concrete blocks

Item 8
laid in herring bone pattern. The western boundary would be demarcated by a 1.2m
Page 5
timber post and rail fence which will be set back a minimum of 2 m from the public
right of way to the west. The eastern boundary will be demarcated by a 1.8m high
close-boarded fence.
The hedge line on the western boundary is in poor condition and does not currently
provide an effective screen. Therefore a new native buffer hedge mix is proposed
between the site and the open arable field to the west. The soft landscaping
proposal also includes hedgerows and shrub planting around each plot. Tree
planting is proposed throughout the development. An area of buffer native hedge,
bulb and tree planting is shown on area of land to the west of the spine road
opposite to plots 1-4.
A new access will be created off Biggleswade Road to serve the proposed
development and the existing dwelling. The main site access road will be surfaced
with tarmacadam, with concrete upstand kerb and pedestrian path. The site
entrance would incorporate shrub planting with a grass verge on the western side of
the access road. A new native hedge would be planted on the shared highway
boundary to the front of no.140.
The hard landscaping plan identifies that the development would provide integrated
bird boxes and hedgehog holes in fences.
RELEVANT POLICIES:
National Planning Policy & Development Plan
National Planning Policy Framework (2019):
5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
9. Promoting sustainable transport
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well-designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (North) - 2009
The development plan for the north part of the authority area comprises the Central
Bedfordshire Core Strategy and Development Management Policies and Site
Allocations DPD adopted in 2009 (“ the Core Strategy”) and the saved polices of the
Mid Bedfordshire Local Plan 2005 (“the MBLP”). Relevant policies are listed below.
CS1 Development Strategy
CS2 Developer Contributions
CS3 Healthy & Sustainable Communities
CS4 Linking Communities - Accessibility & Transport
CS5 Providing Homes
CS6 Delivery & Timing of Housing Provision
CS7 Affordable Housing

CS13 Climate Change

Item 8
Page 6

CS14 High Quality Development
CS16 Landscape & Woodland
CS17 Green Infrastructure
CS18 Biodiversity & Geological Conservation
DM1 Renewable Energy
DM2 Sustainable Construction of New Buildings
DM3 High Quality Development
DM4 Development Within & Beyond Settlement Envelopes
DM9 Providing a Range of Transport
DM10 Housing Mix
DM14 Landscape & Woodland
DM15 Biodiversity
DM16 Green Infrastructure
Central Bedfordshire Local Plan - Emerging
The Central Bedfordshire Local Plan has reached submission stage and was
submitted to the Secretary of State on 30 April 2018.
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 48) stipulates that from the
day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in
emerging plans unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The apportionment of this weight is subject to:
·
·
·

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan;
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies;
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework.

Reference should be made to the Central Bedfordshire Submission Local Plan
which should be given limited weight having regard to the above. The following
policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:
SP2: Sustainable Development
H1: Housing Mix
H2: Housing Standards
T2: Highway Safety & Design
T3: Parking
EE2: Biodiversity
EE3: Nature conservation
EE4: Trees, woodlands and hedgerows

CC5: Sustainable Drainage
HQ1: High Quality Development

Item 8
Page 7

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Other Documents
A Site Allocations DPD was adopted in 2011 and also comprises part of the
development plan. In addition, the Council has adopted the following supplementary
planning documents:
-Central Bedfordshire Design Guide in March 2014
-Sustainable Drainage Guidance SPD (2014 – update 2015)
- Landscape Character Assessment (2015)
Relevant Planning History:
Case Reference
Location
Proposal
Decision
Decision Date
Case Reference
Location
Proposal
Decision
Decision Date

CB/18/04211/FULL
140 Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote, Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ
Erection of 9 bungalows with access, parking, landscaping and all
ancillary works.
Application Withdrawn
17/12/2018
CB/18/02111/PAPC
140 Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote, Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ
Pre-Application Non-Householder Advice: 8 No. dwellings to
replace existing dwelling and outbuildings.
Pre-App Charging Fee Advice Released
17/07/2018

Adjacent to application site:
Case Reference
Location
Proposal
Decision
Decision Date

CB/17/04476/OUT
Woodlands Nurseries, Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote,
Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ
Outline application for new plant production unit and access road
and enabling commercial development (B1/B2/B8) of up to
9,275sqm and residential development of up to 35 dwellings
Outline Application - Granted
07/08/2018

Consultees:
Parish/Town Council

Northill Parish Council's Planning Committee considered
the above application at a recent meeting and the
recommendation is to object to the proposal because:
- It is not compliant with policies NP1 and NP5 of the
draft Northill Parish Neighbourhood Plan.
- It is outside the settlement boundary.
- It is back land development.
- It is not a rural exception site.
- CBC have their 5-year land supply.
- It was not submitted for development in CBC’s ‘Call
for Sites’.

Item 8
- There are concerns as to the capacity of the foul
sewer and drainage of surface water in the parish. Page 8
- There are concerns regarding the limited access to
the new dwellings.
- There are concerns regarding the increase in traffic
along Biggleswade Road which already has issues
with vehicles not obeying the 30mph limit.
Rights of Way

No objection.

Tree & Landscape
Officer

No objection.

SUDS Team

No objection subject to condition.

Highways Officer

No objection subject to conditions.

Ecology

No objection.

British Pipelines Agency

BPA Pipelines not affected.

Internal Drainage Board

No objection.

Bedfordshire Fire and
Rescue Service

Would like to draw the developer’s attention to the
requirements of Building Regulations, and the suitable
provision of vehicle access for a pump alliances and
turning facilities.

Cadent Gas

No objection.

Landscape Officer

No objection.

Anglian Water

None received.

Other Representations:
Neighbours

One letter has been received raising the following
concerns:
·

The sewers in our road don't seem to be able to cope
with the current amount of waste and we already suffer
from drain smells during the summer months.

·

We live opposite the site and have already been
blocked in by a builders vehicle. Can there be a clause
if this is approved that all construction traffic is parked
on the site? Can there also be a clause regarding
keeping the road clean during construction?

·

Finally with all of the development at this end of
Biggleswade road there needs to be some traffic
calming installed by the council as the 30mph sign is
completely ignored already and with the additional cars
once these developments are finished the chance of
accidents is going to increase.

Determining Issues:
The main considerations of the application are;
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Item 8
Page 9

Principle of development
Character and appearance
Neighbouring amenity
Highway safety and parking considerations
Other Considerations

Considerations
1. Principle of development
1.1 Sections 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require the Council to
determine any application in accordance with the statutory development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
1.2 Policy CS1 classifies settlements by virtue of their scale, services and facilities.
Further, the thrust of Policy DM4 is to apply weight in favour of development
within Settlement Envelopes and restrict development divorced from the
settlements identified within Policy CS1. This policy position is largely echoed by
Policy SP7 within the emerging Local Plan. There is therefore a clear settlement
strategy directing residential developments to larger, more sustainable, urban
areas. Additionally, the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to encourage
residential developments in sustainable locations only.
1.3 The site is located outside the Settlement Envelope of Upper Caldecote.
Therefore, the proposal would not comply with Policy DM4 of the adopted Local
Plan. Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy defines Upper Caldecote as a Large
Village, and it is worth noting that it remains a Large Village in the settlement
hierarchy of the emerging Local Plan. The emerging Plan also retains the
approach of defining Settlement Envelopes to define the boundaries between
settlements and surrounding countryside (Policy SP7).
1.4 Policy DM4 of the Core Strategy seeks to direct the majority of development to
the major and minor service centres, within defined settlement envelopes. As a
Large Village smaller-scale developments are supported within the settlement
boundary of Upper Caldecote. However, the site is unallocated and is located
outside (separated by a field) of the defined settlement envelope for Upper
Caldecote.
1.5 Policy DM4 is considered to be entirely consistent with the thrust of the NPPF
which seeks to promote sustainable social, economic and environmental
development. Overall, it is considered that moderate weight may still be
attributed to this policy in the determination of this application as the Council
seeks to deliver planned development in a sustainable manner. However, the
proposal, for residential units outside of a settlement boundary, conflicts with the
current settlement strategy of the Council (denoted by Policies CS1 and DM4),
which weighs against the proposal in principle.
1.6 The Council has identified and demonstrated in the latest Annual Monitoring
Report a five year supply of housing (5.71) and, it is noted that the position in
respect of five year housing has been extensively tested now at appeal.
Accordingly, the most important housing policies in the Core Strategy relevant to
this application, including CS1, CS5 and DM4, are not considered to be out of
date and the presumption in favour of sustainable development in paragraph 11

of the NPPF is not therefore engaged.

Item 8
Page 10

1.7 However, in considering the principle of development, one must consider
whether there are other material matters which outweigh the lack of compliance
with Policy DM4. The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development and it is necessary to assess the
merits of the site more broadly having regard to the NPPF.
1.8 It is noted that the site is located on the site of an existing dwelling, with existing
built form to the north and east. The site is not therefore considered to be
isolated. The site is bound to the east and south by a site which has outline
planning permission (CB/17/04476/OUT) for up to 35 dwellings, a new plant
production unit and access road and enabling commercial development
(B1/B2/B8) of up to 9,275sqm. This approval is a material consideration which
weighs in support of the development proposed within this application.
2. Character and appearance
2.1 Design is at the heart of the planning system. Chapter 12 of the Framework
emphasises the importance of good design in context, stating that, ‘The creation
of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work’. The
Framework requires that developments are visually attractive as a result of good
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic
to local character and history including the surrounding built environment and
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation
or change.
2.2 Policies CS14, DM3 and DM14 of the Core Strategy require that proposals are
of a high quality of design, respect the local context in which they are in, are
appropriate in terms of scale and have an acceptable impact upon the
landscape, which would provide hard and soft landscaping appropriate in scale
and design to the development and its setting.
Layout and design of the dwellings
2.3 The character of the site and its surroundings is mixed with no strong
architectural or design cues. The surrounding residential development is
predominately of 1 & 2-storey dwellings dating from the late 19th century and
post war periods, faced primarily in brick with some render and roofs of slate,
plain tile or concrete tile. Residential properties either form ribbon development
along Biggleswade Road or cul-de-sac type development seen to the west with
Upper Caldecote.
2.4 The proposed layout is considered to be acceptable in this context given the
site's linear form, and would provide a suitable landscape buffer between the
site and arable land to the west. To the east and south the dwellings would be
screened by the Woodland Nursery site. The relatively modest heights of the
proposed bungalows would aid in reducing the visual impact of the development
on the wider landscape.
2.5 The proposed density is low and appropriate for this edge of settlement location.
The siting of the dwellings satisfies the requirements of the Council's design
guide with regards to distances from the access road and from rear boundaries.
The dwellings would also be set back from side boundaries which would provide

adequate maintenance space.

Item 8
Page 11

2.6 The design of the bungalows is also considered to be appropriate in this context
given the mixed type and character of dwellings in the locality, and the proposed
landscape screening. The proposed facing materials are brickwork,
weatherboarding, render and roof tiles, which are broadly reflective of the
locality. The exact details of which will be secured through planning condition.
Trees and landscaping
2.7 The site currently consists of garden area with fairly extensive scrub and tree
cover along with boundary hedges and trees.
2.8 The application is accompanied by a Tree Survey Schedule and Tree Removals
Plan. The survey identifies that the majority of trees on site are C or U category
trees, which are not considered to be high value. Their removal can be mitigated
by the proposed tree planting.
2.9 The submitted soft landscape plan identifies areas of planting including a new
hedgelines, shrubs and trees. The Tree & Landscape Officer considers that the
planting proposals are appropriate and acceptable for this site. The proposed
buffer planting on the western boundary would, in time, provided a suitable
screen between the site, the public footpath and views from the arable land to
the west. The Tree & Landscape Officer has requested that the specification for
the hedge shown on the submitted plan is amended to provide a new hedge
buffer which could grow and be maintained to a suitable height. At the time of
writing an amended landscape plan has not been received. A planning condition
will therefore be recommended in respect of this.
3.

Highway safety and parking considerations

3.1 Policy DM3 of the Core Strategy requires that development provides adequate
areas for parking and servicing. Para. 109 of the NPPF states that development
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on
the road network would be severe.
3.2 The guidance within 'Design for Central Bedfordshire: A Guide for Development'
states that, generally, one bedroom units will require one parking space, two and
three bedroom units will require two parking spaces and four bedroom units will
require three spaces. Each plot could be expected to produce 6-8 traffic
movements a day.
3.3 The proposed access is from the west of the site from Biggleswade Road which
has a 30mph speed limit. To the east of the access and fronting the site is a
"hail and ride" bus stop.
3.4 The proposed development would provide a new 5m wide access providing
footways and a service margin, which would provide an acceptable level of
visibility with no harm to highway safety. The proposal although to adoptable
standards in geometry is to remain private. The turning area is suitable for a
refuse vehicle used by the council and could potentially be served by the
council's waste services.
3.5 Parking provision would be on the basis of two parking spaces per dwelling,
located to the front or side of the properties, which accords with highway

Item 8
guidance in the Council's design guide. The larger 3-bed bungalows contain
internal garages but these do not accord with the Council's design guidancePage
and 12
are not therefore counted as a parking space.
3.6 The Highway Officer has no objection to the proposal subject to a number of
conditions including the provision of a Construction Management Plan.
4.

Residential amenity

4.1 Policy DM3 requires that development respects the amenity of surrounding
properties. Guidance in paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF requires a high standard
of amenity for all existing and future occupiers of land and buildings. Further
guidance is found within the Central Bedfordshire Design Guide.
4.2 The nearest existing residential properties are properties on the northern side of
Biggleswade (nos. 193-199) and properties to the east (nos.142 & 144). The
impact on dwellings on the northern side of Biggleswade would be negligible
given the adequate separation distance of 50m, the presence of the intervening
existing dwelling and the orientation of the dwellings. Similarly, the 30m
separation distance from Nos.142 & 144 to the nearest proposed bungalow
would ensure that residential amenity of these properties would not be harmed.
There is no first floor flank window proposed for plot 1 therefore there would be
no affect on the host dwelling, no.140 Biggleswade Road. As such, it is
considered that the proposed development would not harm the amenity of
existing or future occupiers with regard to loss of light, overbearing impact or
loss of privacy.
4.3 The Central Bedfordshire Design guide sets out minimum standards for both
garden depths and sizes. Dwellings of 3 bedrooms or larger are required to have
a minimum garden area of 60 square metres and a minimum depth of 12
metres. The proposed development satisfies these design guide requirements.
4.4 It should be noted that outline permission CB/17/04476/OUT with all matters
reserved granted permission for 35 dwellings. The indicative masterplan shows
the housing being located adjacent to the site subject of this application. As
discussed above, the rear garden depths largely satisfy the design guide
requirement and would provide suitable separation distance from the boundary,
which would reduce the impact of the development on any future residential
development on the adjoining site.
4.5 The proposed dwellings would satisfy the internal space standards outlined in
both the Council's Design Guide and the nationally described space standards,
thereby protecting the amenity of future occupiers.
4.6 Given the existence of surrounding residential units and the scale of the
proposal, it is considered that the access would not result in significant harm in
terms of increased noise and disturbance from vehicular movements associated
with the development.
4.7 A neighbouring property has raised amenity concerns regarding the construction
phase of the development. It is considered that this matter can be adequately
resolved by the submission of a construction management plan.
4.8 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable with regards to
residential amenity in compliance with policy DM27, the CBC Design Guide and
the NPPF.

5.

Other Considerations

Item 8
Page 13

Pollution
5.1

The site shares boundaries with Woodlands Nursery which is a commercial
site with a mix of uses. Public Protection have in the passed received
complaints regarding noise from this site. Whilst the site does have outline
approval for residential development, a reserved matters application for the
residential element has not yet been submitted. It is therefore necessary to
assess the potential impacts of the adjacent commercial use on future
occupiers of the proposed development.

5.2

Although a noise survey of the site has been provided with the application this
does not meet the British Standard required by Public Protection. At the time
of writing an updated noise monitoring survey and report is being undertaken.
This survey will determine whether mitigation such as acoustic fencing is
required. Its findings will be updated on the Late Sheet.
Drainage

5.3

Policy CS13 seeks to ensure that proposals incorporate suitable drainage
infrastructure.

5.4

The site lies wholly within Flood Zone 1 which has a low probability of flooding
and but part of the site is within a 1 in 1000 year surface water flood area.

5.5

The SUDS Team have no objections subject to two conditions to secure the
drainage strategy and ensure the final detailed design and maintenance
arrangements are approved by the Council prior to their implementation. The
development is therefore acceptable in flood risk terms.

5.6

The Parish Council and a neighbour has raised concerns regarding the
capacity for foul water in the area. It is understand that there is mains
sewerage along Biggleswade but at the time of writing a consultation response
has not been received from Anglian Water. The agent has stated that if there
is not available capacity then they will provide non-mains sewerage within the
site. Foul water details will be secured by condition.
Ecology

5.7

The site contains semi natural habitat including woodland, scrub and
semi-improved grassland, the majority of which will be lost as a result of the
proposal. The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which accompanies the
application does not foresee any harm to protected species provided its
recommendations are adhered to.

5.8

The submitted landscaping scheme would provide an improvement with more
native species and nectar and berry rich planting. Biodiversity gains will also
be achieved by the inclusion of integrated bird boxes and hedgehog holes in
fences.

5.9

The Council's Ecologist has no objection to the proposal. Conditions will
secure the proposed biodiversity gains.

Public Rights of Way

Item 8
Page 14

5.10 Footpath 9 runs directly on the western border of the development. The
development will have a post and rail fence erected 2m back from the footpath
with additional planting set behind to create a buffer between the development
and the footpath.
5.11 This approach is considered to be appropriate and in accordance with the
Council's public rights of way guidance. The Rights of Way Team has no
objection to the proposed development.
Affordable housing and planning obligations
5.12 Policy CS7 states that development of four or more dwellings should provide
an element of affordable housing (AH). However, national guidance within the
NPPF states that AH should only be sought for major developments (10 or
more dwellings). AH would not therefore be sought from the proposed
development.
Draft Northill Neighbourhood Plan
5.13 Northill Parish Council has objected to the proposed development as they
consider it be in conflict with policies NP1 and NP5 of the draft Northill Parish
Neighbourhood Plan.
5.14 Given the draft stage of the Neighbourhood Plan it is considered that these
policies cannot be afforded weight in the determination of this application.
Sustainable development
5.15 The Framework adopts a broad definition of sustainable development in that it
states that the policies within the document constitute the Government's view
of what sustainable development means in practice. The Framework also
establishes that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development, which includes economic, social and
environmental dimensions.
Social:
5.16 The proposal would make a contribution to the existing housing stock. One of
the key aims of the NPPF is to significantly boost the supply of housing, the
proposal is considered sustainable in this regard which weighs in favour of the
proposal.
5.17 Upper Caldecote is defined as a Large Village within Policy CSI and has a
number of services and facilities. Taking this into account, and given the
statutory duty of relevant bodies to provided services (such as health and
education) it is considered that there are sufficient services with the Large
Village to accommodate the additional four units. The site is considered to be
in a sustainable location within walking distance of amenities, services and
facilities in Upper Caldecote, which can be accessed by footways.
Economic:
5.18 The proposal would also result in economic benefits through the purchase of
materials and services in connection with the construction of the dwellings and

Item 8
an increase in local household expenditure. There would also be economic
benefits from the New Homes Bonus. Again, this weighs in favour ofPage
the 15
proposed development.
Environmental:
5.19 It is acknowledged that the proposal would result in some harm to the
character of the rural setting. However, as noted above, the proposal would
not be prominent in the countryside and would be predominately screened
from public views. The site is in a sustainable location close to services and
facilities and, overall, the development would not be environmentally
unsustainable.
Conclusion
5.20 The proposal, for eight residential units outside of a settlement boundary,
conflicts with the current settlement strategy of the Council (denoted by
Policies CSI and DM4), which weighs against the grant of permission. There
would be some harm to the character of the countryside but the proposed
development would contribute to the economic and social dimensions of
sustainability. However, in the overall balancing exercise, the identified harm
and conflict with the Development Plan, would be out-weighed by the benefits
of this scheme.
5.21 Human Rights and Equality Act issues:
Based on information submitted there are no known issues raised in the
context of Human Rights / The Equalities Act 2010 and as such there
would be no relevant implications.
Recommendation:
That Planning Permission be Approved subject to the following:
1

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2

Within two months of development commencing a detailed design of the
surface water drainage scheme for the site (in its entirety), to manage up to
and including the 1 in 100 year event (+40%CC) within the system, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme to be submitted shall include detailed plans and drawings of the
final drainage system, including location, pipe run reference numbers,
dimensions, gradients and levels (in metres above Ordinance Datum) and
shall include all elements of the system proposed, including source control,
storage, flow control and discharge elements. The scheme shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the
development is completed and subsequently managed and maintained
thereafter in accordance with the agreed management and maintenance
plan.
Reason: To ensure the approved system will function to a satisfactory
minimum standard of operation and maintenance and prevent the increased

Item 8
risk of flooding both on and off site in line with para 164 of the NPPF and the
Page 16
DEFRA approved Technical Standards for SUDS (2015).
3

No building dwelling shall be occupied until the developer has formally
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority a management and
maintenance plan for the surface water drainage.
Reason: To ensure that the implementation and long term operation of a
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) is in line with what has been approved,
in accordance with Written statement - HCWS161

4

Prior to their use in the development hereby approved samples or details of
the materials to be used on the external surfaces shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
thereafter proceed in accordance with the approved materials.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure the development will
harmonise visually with the character and appearance of the site and its
surroundings.

5

Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved the bird boxes and
hedgehog fencing gaps identified on plan JBA18/216-02 Rev D shall be
implemented and retained in situ thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

6

Before the dwellings hereby approved are occupied the following works shall
have been completed and surfaced in accordance with the approved plans
and thereafter retained as such:
- all on site vehicular areas including the turning space for vehicles;
- the junction of the proposed vehicular access with the highway;
- the replacement parking provision and new access thereto for the
existing dwelling (no. 140);
- the refuse collection point located at the site frontage outside of the
public highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, parking provision and visual
amenity.

7

No development shall be carried out unless a Construction Management
Plan (CMP) has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Construction Management Plan shall specify details
of:
·
·
·
·

loading and unloading of plant and machinery;
facilities for the storage of plant, machinery and materials used in the
construction of the development;
wheel washing facilities;
a scheme for the recycling/disposal of waste resulting from the
scheme.

The development shall thereafter proceed in strict accordance with the
approved CMP.
Reason: In the interests of local amenity.

8

Item 8
Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved details of the
Page 17
method of foul water drainage shall be submitted to and confirmed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter proceed
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of pollution control.

9

Prior to commencement of any above ground building works details of hard
and soft landscape works, including an implementation and management
plan, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Details of soft landscape works shall include retention of any existing trees
and hedges; finished levels/contours; planting plans; written specifications
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate. The hard landscape works
shall include means of enclosure; boundary and surface treatments. All
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the
implementation plan and thereafter maintained in accordance with the
approved management plan.
Reason:
To secure a landscape scheme that will complement the
development in the interests of visual amenity.

10

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers OAK-034 Sheet 1 (Site Plan), OAK_034 Sheet 01 (Sit Plan &
Location Plan), OAK-034 Site Layout/Block Plan, OAK-034 Sheet 02 (Plot
1,2 & 5), OAK-034 Sheet 03 (Plot 3,4,6,7,& 8), JBA18/216-01 Rev D (Soft
Landscaping) & JBA18/216-02 Rev D (Hard Landscaping).
Reason: To identify the approved plan/s and to avoid doubt.

INFORMATIVE NOTES TO APPLICANT
1.

This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country
Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any
other enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or
approval which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate
authority.

2.

Please note that there is a contribution to pay for the supply/delivery of the
bins. Our
current charges for this are:
£240 - £25 + VAT per bin.
This must be paid prior to discharging the relevant condition. A purchase
order must be raised for the quantity of bins required and sent to Waste
Services quoting the relevant planning reference number. We will also
require a map of the site detailing street names, plot and house numbers.
Wherever possible, refuse collection vehicles will only use adopted
highways. If an access road is to be used, it must be to adoptable standards
suitable for the refuse vehicle to manoeuvre safely around site (please see

Item 8
vehicle dimensions below). Typically, until roads are adopted or if the RCV
Page 18
is unable to manoeuvre around the site, bins are to be brought to the
highway boundary or a pre-arranged point. If residents are required to pull
their bins to the highway, a hard-standing area needs to be provided for at
least 3 wheelie bins and a recycling caddy per property. Bins must not
encroach on or cause a hazard or obstruction to the public highway. Waste
vehicles will reverse a maximum of 15m to the point of collection.
Please also refer to the Design Guide as the Council will not be able to
supply waste collections where the bin and access requirements do
not meet our contractual provision, anything else differing to this will
be incorporated as a condition.
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/planning/design/info.aspx
3.

The applicant is advised that in order to comply with Conditions 6 of
this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to
enter into an agreement with Central Bedfordshire Council as Highway
Authority under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the
satisfactory completion of the access and associated road
improvements. You are advised to contact the Highways Agreements
Officer, Community Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory
House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ.
E-mail highwaysagreements@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
- The applicant is advised that no private surface water drainage system
designed as part of a new development, will be allowed to enter any existing
highway surface water drainage system.
- The applicant is advised that the requirements of the New Roads and
Street Works Act 1991 will apply to any works undertaken within the limits of
the existing public highway. Further details can be obtained by this link on
the Council website
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/transport/request/dropped-kerb.aspx
or contact Central Bedfordshire Council Tel: 0300 300 8301.
- The applicant is advised that parking for contractor’s vehicles and the
storage of materials associated with this development should take place
within the site and not extend into within the public highway without
authorisation from the highway authority. If necessary the applicant is
advised to follow this link on the Council website
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/transport/request/dropped-kerb.aspx
or contact Central Bedfordshire Council Tel: 0300 300 8301. Under the
provisions of the Highways Act 1980 the developer may be liable for any
damage caused to the public highway as a result of demolition/construction
of the development hereby approved.
- Best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles
leaving the development site during construction/demolition of the
development are in a condition such as not emit dust or deposit mud, slurry
or other debris on the highway, in particular efficient means shall be
installed prior to commencement of the development and thereafter
maintained and employed at all times during construction of the
development of cleaning the wheels of all vehicles leaving the site.
- The applicant is advised that if it is the intention to request Central
Bedfordshire Council as Local Highway Authority, to adopt the proposed

Item 8
highways within the site as maintainable at the public expense then details
Page 19
of the specification, layout and alignment, width and levels of the said
highways together with all the necessary highway and drainage
arrangements, including run off calculations shall be submitted to the
Highways Agreements Officer, Highways Contract Team, Community
Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk,
Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ The applicant is advised that as a result of
the development, new highway street lighting will be required and the
applicant must contact the Development Control Group, Development
Management Division, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks
Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ for details of the works involved, the
cost of which shall be borne by the developer. No development shall
commence until the works have been approved in writing and the applicant
has entered into a separate legal agreement covering this point with the
Highway Authority.
- All roads to be constructed within the site shall be designed in accordance
with Central Bedfordshire Council’s publication “Design in Central
Bedfordshire A Guide to Development” and the Department for Transport’s
“Manual for Streets”, or any amendment thereto.
- The applicant is advised that all cycle parking to be provided within the site
shall be designed in accordance with the Central Bedfordshire Council’s
“Cycle Parking Annexes – July 2010”.

Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 - Part 6, Article 35
The Council acted pro-actively through positive engagement with the applicant during the
determination process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore
acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of development in line with the requirements
of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
DECISION
......................................................................................................................................
......................................................................................................................................

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 9
Page 1
LATE SHEET
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 24/04/2019
Item 5 - CB/18/04553/FULL - North Star Cottage, Watling Street, Hockliffe,
Leighton Buzzard, LU7 9PY
Additional Consultation / Publicity Responses
None received.
Additional Comments
The call in requested was made by Cllr. Versallion for the following reasons:
·
·

Landscaping and screening could resolve issues of aesthetic and industrial view
concerns;
Was already an ugly dilapidated industrial site without sufficient screening.

On 18th April an email was received from the applicant, Mr McBride, and states the
following:
I have had the opportunity to review your committee report for the application at
North Star Cottage.
I appreciate your even-handed approach and your overall assessment is fair and
honest, naturally I might disagree with a few points but that is the nature of these
things.
However, to aid me and to aid clarity, (because I will only have 3 minutes to speak
at the committee), it would be helpful to clarify a couple of things which could be
included on the Late Sheet. This will remove the need for me to discuss these
matters.
1. Point 1.6 in your report
1.6 The retention of the business in the District and subsequent retention of local
jobs is deemed a positive aspect of the proposal. Additionally, the NPPF identifies
the importance of building a strong, competitive economy and paragraph 83
emphasises the need to support sustainable growth and expansion of businesses in
rural areas, although this does not relate to open storage.
Paragraph 83 actually states that “the need to support all types of business” as
shown below;
Supporting a prosperous rural economy
83. Planning policies and decisions should enable:
a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas,
both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;
I think it would be fair to point that out in the late sheet with a correction, I will then
not need to refer to that point at the meeting.
The other point was that in the committee report the Landscape Officer and the
PROW officer’s consultation responses are shown but in your consideration at;

Item 9
Page 2
2.Impact on the Green Belt and open countryside
The Landscape Officer’s comments are discussed, and quite rightly. However, it
would be fair to also point out The Rights of Way Officer’s comments.
Again, I then would not need to refer to this at the meeting.
I have highlighted the relevant section from the report
Rights of Way Officer
No public right of way seems to be directly affected but Chalgrave Public Footpath
no. 45 lies to the north of the site and Houghton Regis Public Footpath no. 29 lies to
the south. Houghton Regis Public Footpath no. 29 which has a signpost at the A5
end should remain completely unaffected by the proposals and any new planting or
fencing.
Hopefully you can understand that I have to put forward my whole case in 3 minutes
and clarification of these points would be fair.
In response, it is acknowledged that paragraph 83(a) of the NPPF supports a
prosperous rural economy and policies and decisions should enable the sustainable
growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through
conversion of existing buildings and well-designed buildings. As specific reference
is made to expansion of existing or provision of new buildings, it is not directly
related to open storage, a point that is highlighted in paragraph 1.6 of the Officers
report.
In terms of the comments from the Rights of Way Officer, these relate to the
function of the public footpaths and it is deemed that these would be unaffected by
the proposals. The comments do not relate to the views from these rights of way,
which are instead covered by the Landscape Officer.
Additional / Amended Conditions / Reasons
None
___________________________________________________________________
Item 6 - CB/17/05679/OUT - Land adjoining Dunstable Road and to the Rear of
My Folly and the Scout Hut, Dunstable Road Caddington LU1 4AL
Additional Consultation / Publicity Responses
Additional consultation responses from the local Scout Group and from 1
neighbour, the comments and objections raised have been raised previously and
are already included within the officers report.
Item 7 - CB/19/00041/REG3 - Former Flitwick Leisure Centre Steppingley Road
Flitwick
Additional Consultation / Publicity Responses
Consultation response from the Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
raising no objection to the proposed development subject to the following
financial contributions:

Item 9
Page 3
·
·
·

Financial contribution of £23,048.20 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of Community Healthcare Services to meet the needs arising
from the development;
Financial contribution of £26,340.80 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of Mental Healthcare Services to meet the needs arising from
the development; and
Financial contribution of £89,952.97 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of local GP facilities providing primary healthcare services to
meet the needs arising from the development.

Consultation response from the Council’s Community Facilities Officer
raising no objection to the proposed development subject to on site provision
of Community Facilities or the following financial contribution:
A financial contribution of £109,103.50 for the provision, improvement or
enhancement of community facilities at Flitwick Leisure Centre, or Rufus Centre to
meet the needs arising from the development.
Additional Comments
It is considered that healthcare and community infrastructure provision or
improvements are necessary for the development to be acceptable. The applicant
has requested flexibility for the provision of on or off-site infrastructure, which is
considered acceptable. Condition 27 and the description of the application has
been amended to ensure that necessary infrastructure is provided on or off site to
meet the needs arising from the development.
It has been requested by the applicant for Condition 26 to be amended to allow
flexibility for affordable housing mix which may be required to offset affordable
housing provision upon another site. The Council’s Strategic Housing Team have
raised no objection to the revised wording of Condition 26 or the principle of the mix
proposed. The condition requires the submission of an affordable housing scheme
and as such the judgement upon the acceptability of any future proposed quantum
or mix of affordable homes will be subject to the approval of the Local Planning
Authority.
Amended Description
Application for Outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
construction of up to 37 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 95 extra care housing
apartments (Use Class C3) and registered residential care home consisting of 70
bedrooms (Use Class C2), with associated communal facilities and ancillary uses
including, community; hair salon; shop; cafe; health; and fitness uses

Item 9
Page 4
Additional / Amended Conditions / Reasons
26

Development shall not commence until a scheme for the provision of
affordable housing as part of the development has been approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable housing shall
be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet
the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning
Policy Framework or any future national policy that replaces it. The
scheme shall include:
i) The number, type and location on the site of the affordable housing
provision to be made which shall consist of not less than 35% of
dwelling units including extra care units;
ii) The tenure shall be split: up to 71% affordable rented and up to 50%
intermediate tenure;
iii) The timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its
phasing in relation to the occupancy of the market housing
including extra care units;
iv) The arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an
affordable housing provider or the management of the affordable
housing if no Registered Housing Provider is involved;
v) Details on the arrangements to ensure that the provision is
affordable for both the initial and subsequent occupiers of the
affordable housing; and
vi) The occupancy criteria used for determining the identity of
occupiers of the affordable housing and the means by which such
occupancy criteria shall be enforced.
Reason: Details are required prior to the commencement of
development to ensure the policy compliant provision of affordable
homes to meet identified needs, in accordance with Policies CS4 and
DM10 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
(2009) and the NPPF.

27

No development shall take place until a mitigation scheme for the
delivery of infrastructure projects on and/or off site to meet the
additional demand for outdoor sports, indoor sports, community
facilities, GP provided primary healthcare services, Community
Healthcare Services and mental health care services, arising from the
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority; or in the event of Council Land Transfer of
any part of the site to a developer a Section 106 agreement has been
entered into to secure financial contributions towards and/or on site
provision of outdoor sports, indoor sports, community facilities, GP
provided primary healthcare services, Community Healthcare Services
and mental health care services, infrastructure, in the form of the draft
attached hereto. The mitigation scheme shall include timescales/
triggers for completion. Thereafter the mitigation scheme shall be
implemented and completed in full accordance with the approved
details and in accordance with the approved timescales/ triggers.

Item 9
Page 5
Reason: This condition is pre commencement, to secure appropriate
mitigation for the impact of the development on local infrastructure, in
accordance with the NPPF.
Section 106 obligations - heads of terms
Please see the box below for the heads of terms for S106 to be attached to the
decision notice.
Former Flitwick Leisure Centre,
CB/19/00041/REG3 Heads of Terms

Steppingley

Road,

Flitwick

ref

The following has been agreed and shall form heads of terms to a S106 agreement
with any developer of the site should any part of the land be transferred from the
Council’s ownership to a developer, which given the Council is landowner would be
secured by way of an appropriately worded Condition requiring any future developer
to enter into a Section 106 Agreement with the Local Planning Authority prior to
commencement of development:·
·
·

·

·
·

Either a financial contribution of £23,048.20 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of Community Healthcare Services to meet the needs arising
from the development; or equivalent on site provision;
Either a financial contribution of £26,340.80 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of Mental Healthcare Services to meet the needs arising from
the development; or equivalent on site provision;
Either a financial contribution of £89,952.97 for the provision, expansion or
enhancement of local GP facilities providing primary healthcare services to
meet the needs arising from the development; or equivalent on site
provision;
Either a financial contribution of £109,103.50 for the provision, improvement
or enhancement of community facilities at Flitwick Leisure Centre, or Rufus
Centre to meet the needs arising from the development; or equivalent on site
provision;
Either a financial contribution of £116,970.00 towards the reconfiguration of
the fitness suite at Flitwick Leisure Centre; or equivalent on site provision for
indoor sport;
Either a financial contribution of £47,029.00 towards the improvement works
at Flitwick Cricket Club, including redevelopment of the pavilion; or
equivalent on site provision for outdoor sport.

The above contributions are based on existing construction costs and values and
the following quantum of development: 37 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 95
extra care housing apartments (Use Class C3) and registered residential care home
consisting of 70 bedrooms (Use Class C2). All financial contributions would be
subject to the quantum of development approved and up dated costs to be
determined at the time of the signing/ sealing of the S106 agreement.

Item 9
Page 6
Infrastructure projects indicated may be subject to amendment if the project
identified has been delivered or alternative priority projects are identified.
Any part on site provision and part financial contribution towards infrastructure types
will require agreement from the Local Planning Authority.
___________________________________________________________________
Item 8 - CB/19/00045/FULL - 140 Biggleswade Road, Upper Caldecote,
Biggleswade, SG18 9BJ
Additional Consultation / Publicity Responses
None received.
Additional Comments
A noise survey was submitted 18.04.2019 to address the potential conflicts with the
neighbouring commercial use at Woodlands Nursery. The Council's Pollution Team
has reviewed the survey and found it to be substandard, not in compliance with
BS4142. They have therefore recommended the condition below.
Following the submission of an amended access plan the Highway Officer has
recommended an additional two conditions.
Additional / Amended Conditions / Reasons
Additional conditions:
There shall be no works above slab level until a noise control scheme for road
traffic and commercial noise has been submitted for approval to the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter the development shall be implemented in full accordance with
the agreed scheme prior to the occupation of any unit which requires mitigation.
Reason: To protect residential amenity.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with
the Daniell Ltd Construction Management Plan received 17.04.2019.
Reason: In the interests of highway convenience, safety and residential amenity.
No dwelling shall be occupied until visibility splays have been provided at the
junction of the estate road with the public highway. The minimum dimensions to
provide the required splay lines shall be 2.4m measured along the centre line of the
proposed estate road from its junction with the channel of the public highway and
43m measured from the centre line of the proposed estate road along the line of the
channel of the public highway. The vision splays required shall be provided and
defined on the site by or on behalf of the developers and be kept free of any
obstruction.
Reason: To provide adequate visibility between the existing highway and the
proposed access(es) and to make the access(es) safe and convenient for the traffic
which is likely to use it (them).

Item 9
Page 7
Before the development is brought into use, the proposed development shall be
carried out and completed in all respects in accordance with the access siting and
layout illustrated on the approved plan No.OAKAB-001 and defined by this
permission and, notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning
General Permitted Development Order 1995, (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
that Order) there shall be no variation without the prior approval in writing of the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development of the site is completed insofar as its
various parts are interrelated and dependent one upon another and to provide
adequate and appropriate access arrangements at all times.

Amended condition 12:
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans and documents, numbers
OAKAB-001 (Site Layout/Access), OAK_034 Sheet 01 (Site Plan & Location Plan),
OAK-034 Sheet 02 (Plot 1,2 & 5), OAK-034 Sheet 03 (Plot 3,4,6,7,& 8),
JBA18/216-01 Rev F (Soft Landscaping) & JBA18/216-02 Rev F (Hard
Landscaping).
Reason: To identify the approved plan/s and to avoid doubt.

___________________________________________________________________

This page is intentionally left blank

